
NOVEMBER 14, 2023 

REGULAR 
CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

@ 6:00 PM 









AGENDA ITEM NO. 1A 

RECOGNITION 
Nation’s Veterans 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 1B 

RECOGNITION 
City Commissioner Joseph McCall 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 1C 

REPORT OF 
Pinellas County Sheriff=s Office 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 1D 

REPORT OF 
Pinellas Suncoast Fire & Rescue District 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 1E 

Pinellas County Emergency Management 

John Bishop 

 on the  

Emergency Beach Restoration Project. 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 2 

PUBLIC COMMENTS



AGENDA ITEM NO. 3A 

REPORTS OF City Attorney 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 3B 

REPORTS OF City Manager 



Page 1 of 2 

November 2023 City Manager’s Report 

• Hallowfest was held on Saturday, October 28th and was a huge success. Several
hundred children were in attendance. Thanks to our City Team, Crabby Bills, IRB Home,
PCSO, PSFRD and Pinellas County for participating in this premiere children’s event.

• Our new Revenue Officer and additional Code Enforcement Officer began work on
November 9, 2023.

• Our Host Compliance Contractor has begun work on the database, mapping etc.
associated with vacation rental monitoring. This process will take several weeks to
complete and implement.

• Vacation Rental Ordinance & Registration

As of 11/7/2023 
95 Certificates have been issued. 
118 Applications approved through Finance.  
14 Applications Pending in Finance. 
95 Properties Inspected -Certificates Issued. 
23 Properties Pending Inspections. 

Courtesy Notices have been mailed to all property owners on the West side of 
Gulf Boulevard advising vacation rental operators to comply. 

In December, the City will begin the process of sending notice of violations and/or 
magistrate hearing dates to operators that were previously registered with the 
City but have not registered and complied with the new ordinance. 

The Registration Vacation Rental List on the City’s Website will be reconfigured 
to be organized by street address. 

• General City Code Division Update

Code Enforcement Team Members spent a substantial amount of time assisting 
Pinellas County with securing easements for the Pinellas County Emergency 
Beach Erosion Control Project. That effort started on September 20th and ended 
on October 27th. The process involved approximately 65 parcels. 

• The contractor for Gulf Boulevard Undergrounding Phase II began work on the first
phase of this project. The project is divided into three phases and is scheduled to be
completed by 2025.

• IRB Beach Accesses that are open

18th, 17th, 15th, 12th, 10th, 9th, 8th ,7th, 6th, 5th, 4th, 3rd ,2nd.

Our contractor is currently working on 26th & 28th beach accesses. After these ramps are
complete the contractor will move to other closed beach accesses and construct the new
ramps.



Page 2 of 2 

• Upcoming Events

IRB Christmas Tree Lighting – December 1 at 7:00 PM at 12th Avenue Park. 

IRB Christmas Parade – 1:00 PM. December 3, 2023, see the city website



AGENDA ITEM NO. 3C 

REPORTS OF City Commission 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

ADDITIONS/DELETIONS 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 5A 

CONSENT AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF the 
October 10, 2023 

Regular City Commission 
Meeting Minutes.



City of Indian Rocks Beach  
Regular City Commission Meeting Minutes, October 10, 2023 
Page 1 of 5 

MINUTES 

CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 
REGULAR CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023- 6:00 PM 

1507 BAY PALM BOULEVARD INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL 33785 
(MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.INDIAN-ROCKS-BEACH.COM) 

Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., followed by the Pledge 
of Allegiance and a moment of silence. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor-Commissioner Joanne Kennedy, Vice-Mayor Commissioner 
Jude Bond, Commissioner Joe McCall, Commissioner Denise Houseberg, and Commissioner 
Lan Vaughan. 

OTHERS PRESENT:  City Attorney Randy Mora, City Manager Gregg Mims, Finance Director 
Dan Carpenter, Public Works Director Dean Scharmen and City Clerk Lorin A. Kornijtschuk. 

For continuity, items are listed in agenda order, although not necessarily discussed in that order. 

1 A. REPORT OF Pinellas County Sheriff’s Office. 
A PCSO representative reviewed the monthly report. 

1 B. REPORT OF Pinellas Suncoast Fire & Rescue District. 
A Pinellas Suncoast Fire & Rescue District representative reviewed the fire district’s monthly 
report.  

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS.
Thomas Germond, 12900 Vonn Rd. Largo, encouraged the City to donate blood to One Blood.

Linda Newton, 438 Harbor Drive N., reviewed her own report on short-term rental vehicles that 
come in and out of Harbor Drive, North and South.  She thanked the commission for their work 
on the short-term rental program. 

Diane Daniels, 309 10th Avenue, spoke about her IRB nonprofit, Vacation Donations, and its 
mission to reduce waste in vacation rentals and increase donations, reuse, and recycling. She 
stated that Pinellas County has a goal of zero waste to landfill by 2050. 

John Phanstiel, 448 Harbor Drive South, thanked the City for their work on short-term rentals 
that have been inspected.  

Jerry Newton, 438 Harbor Drive North, thanked the City for the Newsletter.  He requested the 
format of the short-term rental list provided on the City’s website be changed. 

Don House, 2104 Beach Trail, stated that beach access on 21st Avenue and 22nd Avenue are 
both shut down, requested the City open at least one of them soon. 

3 A. REPORT OF the City Attorney. 

http://www.indian-rocks-beach.com/


City of Indian Rocks Beach  
Regular City Commission Meeting Minutes, October 10, 2023 
Page 2 of 5 

City Attorney Mora reported the status on the ongoing 7 pending lawsuits. 

City Attorney Mora stated the subject of short-term rentals is an ongoing discussion through the 
City and he reminded the council that more than a year ago he explained whether or not the City 
was going to be successful, it was critical on how the City defined success. If success was to be 
defined by banning or ending the existence of short-term rentals, the City would not succeed. 
Nothing that the City passed, adopted or delivered is designed to limit duration frequency or 
otherwise prohibit short-term rentals in this community. 

3 B. REPORT OF the City Manager. 
City Manager Mims reported that Pinellas County Emergency Dune Construction Project/ 
Temporary Erosion Control Project are in progress. He stated that this is not a renourishment 
project but protective measures to protect people’s properties. 

City Manager Mims provided an update to the Gulf Boulevard Phase II Undergrounding Project, 
the City’s new Website Project and stated that purchase orders were being issued for Capital 
Projects and Equipment that was approved as part of the 2023/2204 budget.  

City Manager Mims read the Code Enforcement Report for September 2023. 

City Manager Mims thanked Crabby Bills for their donation of $10,000 to Hallowfest. 

3 C. REPORT OF the City Commission. 
Vice-Mayor Commissioner Bond reported on the Beach Art Center Activities and Homeowners 
Association IRB Tour of Homes. 

Commissioner Vaughan reported on Action 2000 activities. 

Commissioner Houseberg had nothing to report. 

Commissioner McCall announced his resignation as City Commissioner effective 10-31-2023. 

4. ADDITIONS/DELETIONS. Discussion on the process of filing the vacant City
Commissioner seat.

5. CONSENT AGENDA.
A. APPROVAL of September 6, 2023, Special City Commission Meeting

Minutes.
B. APPROVAL of September 12, 2023, Regular City Commission Meeting

Minutes.
C. APPROVAL of September 20, 2023, Special City Commission Meeting

Minutes.
D. AUTHORIZING the City Manager to award Bid Number I.R.B.P.W.D.2023-01 and

enter into a contract with Harbor Contracting, LLC. for the 2nd Street and 16th
Avenue BMP’s (Q341) in the amount of $419,827.00.

City Attorney Mora read the Consent Agenda, consisting of Agenda Item 5 A through 5 D, by title 
only. 



City of Indian Rocks Beach  
Regular City Commission Meeting Minutes, October 10, 2023 
Page 3 of 5 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Vaughan and seconded by Commissioner Houseberg to 
approve the Consent Agenda, consisting of Agenda item nos. 5 A through 5 D. The Motion 
carried unanimously. 

6. PUBLIC HEARING. None.

7. Ordinance No. 2023-06-Public Hearing /First Reading. An Ordinance of the City of
Indian Rocks Beach,  Florida, providing for an amendment to Section 74-63 of the
Code of Ordinances pertaining to the operation of vessels within the City’s coastal
waters in the Gulf of Mexico; providing for the incorporation of recitals; providing
for approval of an amendment to the City’s Code to establish a public bathing
beach area limited to manually propelled vessels only to conform to Florida’s
Statutes and Administrative Code; providing for severability; providing for the
repeal of all ordinances in conflict herewith; and providing for an effective date.

Attorney Mora read the Ordinance by title only. 

Public Works Director Dean Scharmen presented Ordinance No. 2023-06. 

[Beginning of Staff Report] 

During the December 13, 2022, Commission Meeting, the City Commission passed Ordinance 
2022-07 designating a section of the coastal beach frontage as a Swim Zone and a Boating 
Restricted area to bring its local regulations into alignment with State Statutes and regulations 
while continuing to balance the interests of vessel operators and the beach going public. 
Subsequent to the adoption of Ordinance 2022-07, the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 
Commission reviewed and provided additional legal insights concerning The Ordinance’s 
consistency with its administrative and legal guidelines relation to Anchoring within a Public 
Bathing Beach. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Within the FY 23/24 Operation Budget, funding has been requested to accomplish the tasks of 
removing and re-installing the Buoy System. 
“Estimate” costs are as follows: 
Permitting/Engineering $ 3,500 
Equipment/Hardware $ 26,500 
Boating Services $ 8,500 
Contingency  $ 1,500 
Total $ 40,000 

[End of Staff Report] 
Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy opened the public hearing. Seeing/hearing no one wishing to 
speak, the public hearing was closed. 

MOTION was made by Commissioner McCall and seconded by Commissioner Vaughan to 
approve Ordinance No 2023-06-Public Hearing /First Reading. An Ordinance of the City of Indian 



City of Indian Rocks Beach  
Regular City Commission Meeting Minutes, October 10, 2023 
Page 4 of 5 

Rocks Beach,  Florida, providing for an amendment to Section 74-63 of the Code of Ordinances 
pertaining to the operation of vessels within the City’s coastal waters in the Gulf of Mexico; 
providing for the incorporation of recitals; providing for approval of an amendment to the City’s 
Code to establish a public bathing beach area limited to manually propelled vessels only to 
conform to Florida’s Statutes and Administrative Code; providing for severability; providing for the 
repeal of all ordinances in conflict herewith; and providing for an effective date.  

Roll Call Vote: 
Ayes: McCall, Houseberg,Vaughan,Bond,Kennedy 
Nays: None 
The Motion carried unanimously. 

8. WORK SESSION ITEMS. Motorized Bikes
City Attorney Mora provided his presentation to the City Commission.

City Attorney Mora stated the City has the ability to regulate the presence of electric bikes by 
adopting an ordinance governing the operation of electric bikes on streets, sidewalks, highways 
bike paths, multi-use paths, trail networks or a beach or dune.   

Vice-Mayor Bond stated electric bikes should be prohibited on the beach, maybe structure the 
ordinance in such a way that the bike could be operated by peddling but not motorized. 

Commissioner Vaughah stated he agreed with Commissioner Bond because of the speed they 
are capable of. He stated that he would not want them on the sidewalks either and should 
possibly be restricted to the bike lane.  

Commissioner Houseberg asked if there are any records of any accidents on the beach. 

Commissioner McCall stated why are we looking for a problem, we hear about car crashes 
happening we cannot regulate everything. Bikes and golf carts alleviate some of the parking 
issues. This is over regulation of something that is not really an issue. 

Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy asked Vice-Mayor Commissioner Bond if he saw any incidents. 
Vice-Mayor Bond replied that electric bikes are the fastest things on the beach, and no one is 
looking out for them, he would like to prevent an accident before it happens. 

Commissioner Vaughan stated he does not see an initial problem right now. 

Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy stated the City prohibits dogs on the beach, but we see dogs on 
the beach, because it is difficult to regulate. Enforcement of electric bikes on the beach will be 
just as difficult.  

City Manager Mims stated the Commission could adopt an ordinance to prohibit electric bikes 
on the beach, but it would be difficult to enforce. 

Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy opened for public comment. 



City of Indian Rocks Beach  
Regular City Commission Meeting Minutes, October 10, 2023 
Page 5 of 5 

Gary Young 1207 Bay Shore Blvd. stated he rides his electric bike on the beach so he can stay 
off the road. He disagrees with all the incumbered ordinances. 

Jan Wilson, 711 Hidden Harbor Dr., stated she is a cyclist and the one thing you need to look at 
on electric bikes is throttle versus non- throttle. She stated she agreed with Vice-Mayor 
Commissioner Bonds opinion. 

John Thayer, 1819 Bay Boulevard, stated that the city should define what is allowed on the 
beach and what is not and the City should eliminate anything motorized on the beach. 

Mayor-Commissioner Kennedy asked if there was a consensus to further this discussion or 
table it. 

Commissioner Houseberg, Commissioner Vaughan and Commissioner McCall stated that 
they did not wish to further discuss the subject. Vice-Mayor Bond stated he would like to 
revisit the subject. 

9. OTHER BUSINESS.  Vacancy of the City Commission Seat.
City Manager Mims offered to the Commission a guideline to put a notice out to the public and 
receive applications to fill the vacancy of the City Commissioner seat for the remainder of the 
unexpired term.

City Attorney Mora reviewed what is expected on Full Financial Disclosure Form 6. 

It was the consensus of the Commission for the City Manager and City Clerk to post the 
notice. 

10. ADJOURNMENT.
Motion was made by Commissioner Houseberg and seconded by Commissioner McCall to 
adjourn at 7:36 p.m. Unanimous approval by acclamation.

_______________ ______________________________________ 
Date Approved Joanne Moston Kennedy, Mayor-Commissioner 

Attest: __________________________ 
Lorin A. Kornijtschuk, City Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 6A 

PUBLIC HEARING 
QUASI- JUDICIAL HEARING 

BOA CASE NO. 2023-08 
320 12TH AVENUE 



1 

INDIAN ROCKS CITY COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 

 MEETING OF:  November 14, 2023  AGENDA Item: 6A 

ORIGINATED BY: Hetty C. Harmon, AICP, City Planner 

AUTHORIZED BY: Brently Gregg Mims, City Manager 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS AND APPEALS: The board of Adjustments and Appeals 
recommended APPROVE to the City Commission by a vote of 4-0. 

SUBJECT: BOA CASE NO. 2023-08 – 320 12th Avenue 
Variance request from Sec.110-131(1) f.1 of the Code of Ordinances, of 10 feet into the 
required 25 foot front yard setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the extension 
of the garage  for property located at 320 12th Avenue, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, and 
legally described as  Lot 3, Block 88,  1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach 
Subdivision, recorded in Plat Book 23 Pages 11,12 and13, of the Public Records of 
Pinellas County, Florida & that part of Lot 4, Block 88, 1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian 
Beach Subdivision Described as  Beg Most E'ly Cor of  Lot 4 Thence S36D01'00"W 120FT 
Thence Cur RT RAD 285FT ARC 26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT Thence 
N47D46'33"E 22.63FT Thence N51D15'00"E 57.76FT Thence N45D17'36"E 41.42FT To 
POB (Map S-06-30-15)   
Parcel # 01-30-14-42048088-0030 

___________________________________________________________________ 

OWNER Earl Wertheim 
LOCATION of PROPERTY: 32012th Ave 
ZONING: S- Single- Family Residential

Direction Existing Use Zoning Category 
North Intracoastal N/A 
East Residential S 

South Residential S 
West Residential  S 

BACKGROUND: 

The applicant is requesting a variance of 10 ft into the front yard to allow for an extension on the 
garage so that the owner can park his vehicle inside the garage.  The house was constructed in 
1957. 

Sec. 2-152. - Variances. 
(a) Generally; criteria for granting variances from the terms of subpart B.



2 

(1) The board of adjustments and appeals shall make recommendations on
and the city commission shall decide variance applications will not be contrary to
the public interest, where, owing to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the
provisions of subpart B will result in unnecessary and undue hardship. In order to
recommend or decide any variance from the terms of subpart B, the board or the
city commission shall consider each of the following.

a. Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land,
structure or building involved and which are not applicable to other lands,
structures or buildings in the same zoning district.

The property is a pie-shaped lot located along a curved right of way. 

b. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the
applicant.

The applicant did not create any special conditions or circumstances. 

c. Granting the variance will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that
is denied by subpart B to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning
district.

Granting the variance would confer special privileges to the applicant. 

d. Literal interpretation of the provisions of subpart B would deprive other
properties in the same zoning district under the terms of subpart B and would work
unnecessary and undue hardship upon the applicant.

The approval of this variance request would not deprive other owners of use and 
enjoyment of their properties.  

e. The variance granted is the minimum variance that will make possible the
reasonable use of the land, structure or building; and

This is the minimum variance to allow the owner to enlarge the garage to be able 
to park his car. 

f. The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and
purpose of subpart B, and such variance will not be injurious to the area involved
or be otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.

Granting the variance will not be in harmony with the general intent and purpose 
of subpart B. 

NOTICE:  A public notice was mailed by first class mail to property owners within 150 feet in any 
direction of the subject property and posted on subject property on October 2, 2023, (Sec. 2-149 
of the Code of Ordinances.) 



 
 
  3 

LEGAL NOTICE: A legal notice was published in the November 1, 2023-Edition, of the St. Pete 
Times Section of the Tampa Bay Times. For a public hearing that has been scheduled for 
November 14, 2023, for BOA Case No. 2023-08. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE:  Neighbors at 322 12th Avenue and 323 12th Ave sent letters of approval 
on the proposed setback. 
 
 
MOTION: 
 
I move to recommend to the City Commission APPROVAL/DENIAL of BOA CASE NO. 2023-08 
– 320 12th Avenue  Variance request from Sec.110-131(1) f.1 of the Code of Ordinances, of 10 
feet into the required 25 foot front yard setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the 
extension of the garage  for property located at 320 12th Avenue, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, 
and legally described as  Lot 3, Block 88,  1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision, 
recorded in Plat Book 23 Pages 11,12 and13, of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida & 
that part of Lot 4, Block 88, 1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision Described as  
Beg Most E'ly Cor of  Lot 4 Thence S36D01'00"W 120FT Thence Cur RT RAD 285FT ARC 
26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT Thence N47D46'33"E 22.63FT Thence N51D15'00"E 
57.76FT Thence N45D17'36"E 41.42FT To POB (Map S-06-30-15)  
 



320 12th Avenue
BOA CASE NO. 2023-08



BOA CASE NO. 2023-08 – 320 12th Avenue
Variance request from Sec.110-131(1) f.1 of the Code of 
Ordinances, of 10 feet into the required 25 foot front yard 
setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the extension of 
the garage  for property located at 320 12th Avenue, Indian Rocks 
Beach, Florida, and legally described as  Lot 3, Block 88,  1st 
Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision, recorded in 
Plat Book 23 Pages 11,12 and13, of the Public Records of Pinellas 
County, Florida & that part of Lot 4, Block 88, 1st Addition to  
Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision Described as  Beg Most E'ly 
Cor of  Lot 4 Thence S36D01'00"W 120FT Thence Cur RT RAD 
285FT ARC 26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT Thence 
N47D46'33"E 22.63FT Thence N51D15'00"E 57.76FT Thence 
N45D17'36"E 41.42FT To POB (Map S-06-30-15) 
  



320 12th Avenue



Survey



Proposed Addition



Proposed Addition



320 12th Avenue



320 12th Avenue- Looking South



Proposed Addition

Existing 



4 

APPLICATION FOR VARIANCE 

Date Received Application No. For Office Use Only 

CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH PLANNING AND ZONING 

Enquiries City Hall: 727.595.2517 or Hetty Harmon: 863.646.4771 x211 Email: hharmon@irbcity.com 
Address: 1507 Bay Palm Boulevard, Indian Rocks Beach, FL 33785 

Email: 

Mobile: Email: 

Fax: Mobile: 

Tel: Fax: 

Zip Code: Tel: 

City: Zip Code: 

Address: City: 

Company: Address: 

Name: Name: 

AGENT/REPRESENTATIVE APPLICANT 

Size: 

Future Land Use: Zoning: 

Legal 
Description: 

Zip Code: City: 

Parcel ID: 

SITE DETAILS 

Address: 01-30-14-42048-088-0030

Residential Urban

Earl Wertheim

320 12th Avenue

Indian Rocks Beach

33785

1-802-598-5995

vt210@me.com

Lauren Rubenstein

Denhardt and Rubenstein

St. Petersburg

2700 1st Ave N

33713

727-327-3400

lauren@denhardtlaw.com

320 12th Ave

Indian Rocks Beach 33785

INDIAN BEACH RE-REVISED 1ST ADD BLK 88, LOT 3 & THAT PART OF LOT 4 DESC BEG MOST E'LY COR OF SD LOT 4 TH S36D01'00"W 
120FT TH CUR RT RAD 285FT ARC 26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT TH TH N47D46'33"E 22.63FT TH N51D15'00"E 57.76FT TH 
N45D17'36"E 41.42FT TO POB (MAP S-06-30-15)

Single Family 

63 x 120 (pie shaped lot)

mailto:hharmon@irbcity.com


5 

     

SITE DETAILS CONTINUED… 

Does applicant own any property contiguous to the subject property? Yes No 

If yes, provide address 
and legal description: 

Have previous applications been filed for this property? Yes No 

If yes, describe: 

Has a certificate of occupancy or completion been refused? Yes No 

If yes, describe: 

Does any other person have ownership or interest in the property? Yes No 

If yes, is ownership or 
interest contigent or 
absolute: 

Is there an existing contract for sale on the property? Yes No 

If yes, list all parties on 
the contract: 

Is contract conditional or absolute? Conditional Absolute 

Are there options to purchase? Yes No 

Gulf-front setback (feet): 

Bay-front setback (feet): 

Alley setback (feet): 

Total 
Requested Proposed Required 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

Regulation 



6  

 

VARIANCE REQUEST CONTINUED… 
Total 

Regulation Required Proposed Requested 
 

Rear-no alley setback (feet): 

Rear-north/south street (feet): 

Street-front setback (feet): 

Side-one/both setback (feet): 

Minimum green space (%): 

Habitable stories (#): 

Minimum lot size (sq. ft.): 

Building height (feet): 

Off-street parking (spaces): 

ISR (%): 

FAR (%): 
 

Dock length (feet): 
 

Dock width (feet): 

Signage (#): 

Accessory structure (sq. ft.): 

Accessory structure height (feet): 

Lot size (sq. ft.): 

 

Other: 
 
 

What is the proposed use 
of the property? 

25 ft 15 ft 10 ft

The property is developed with a single-family home built in 1957. 
The proposed variance is to allow the extension of the existing garage
so that the owner can park his vehicle inside the garage. 



7  

 

HARDSHIP 
 

A variance is granted on the basis of evidence being presented that justifies an undue and 
unnecessary hardship upon the applicant; a hardship that prevents reasonable use of the 
property. The following criteria, set forth in Code Section 2-152, Variances, will be used to 
evaluate the request for variance in order to determine if a hardship is present and if the variance 
will impact the overall public welfare. 

 
Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, structure or building 
involved and which are not applicable to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning 
district: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Granting this variance will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is denied by the 
chapter to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning district: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The literal interpretation of the provisions of Subpart B, Code Sections 78 through 110, would 
deprive other properties in the same zoning district under the terms of Subpart B and would work 
unnecessary and undue hardship upon the applicant: 

See attached narrative 

See attached narrative 

See attached narrative 

See attached narrative 



8  

 

HARDSHIP CONTINUED… 
 

The variance granted is the minimum that will make possible the reasonable use of the land, 
structure or building: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of Subpart 
B and such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or be otherwise detrimental to the 
public welfare: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

I (we) believe the Board of Adjustment and Appeals and the City Commission should grant this 
application because: 

See attached narrative 

See attached narrative 

See attached narrative



Earl Wertheim 
Variance Application Narrative 

Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, structure
or building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, structures or
buildings in the same zoning district: 

The subject property is a pie-shaped lot located along a curved right-of-way. The
unusual shape of the lot greatly reduces the potential development area. It should be
noted that the Applicant’s home is set back 30 feet from the property line, and
approximately 55 feet from the edge of pavement. Although the Applicant is seeking a
reduced front yard setback to allow for a 15-foot extension of the existing small garage
(which isn’t currently long enough to park his vehicle inside), the garage would still be
approximately 40 feet away from the curb. The proposed extension of the garage would
not even interfere with the existing circular driveway. See attached plans and survey. 

Special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant:

The Applicant did not plat the pie-shaped lot nor did he build the existing single-family
home back in 1957. 

Granting this variance will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is
denied by the chapter to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning
district: 

The granting of this variance will not confer any special privilege that is denied by the
chapter to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning district. Many homes
in the area are developed with garages that can accommodate longer vehicles.

The literal interpretation of the provisions of Subpart B, Code Sections 78 through
110, would deprive other properties in the same zoning district under the terms of
Subpart B and would work unnecessary and undue hardship upon the applicant: 

The literal interpretation of the Code would work unnecessary and undue hardship upon
the Applicant. Due to the unusual shape of the property, development is limited. The
literal interpretation of the Code would require the Applicant to build an entirely new
garage elsewhere on the property or potentially redevelop the entire property, rather
than allowing for a small addition to the existing garage to make it possible to park a
vehicle inside. 

The variance granted is the minimum that will make possible the reasonable use of
the land, structure or building: 

The proposed variance is the minimum variance that will make possible the reasonable
use of the structure. As stated above, due to the pie-shaped lot, development is already
constrained. The home, which was built in 1957, has a small garage. In order to make
the garage functional for parking a vehicle, it needs to be enlarged. The proposed



extension of the garage would tie into the existing driveway and not detract from any of
the other architectural elements of the existing home. The proposed variance also
minimizes the amount of additional impervious surface that will be added to the lot for
the purpose of a garage. The proposed addition will be where there is an existing
concrete driveway, and it only proposed to add a total of 180 Sq. Ft. That is substantially
less of an impact than building an entire new garage elsewhere on the property. 

The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose
of Subpart B and such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or be
otherwise detrimental to the public welfare: 

The purpose the front yard setback is to create a common line of sight, provide access
to underground utilities and to avoid homes being built right up to the roadway. Due to
the curve in the right-of-way and the additional 25 feet of right-of-way that extends
from the curb up to the Applicant’s property, the proposed garage extension would still
be approximately 40 feet back from the edge of pavement. The granting of the variance
would be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of the Code, and it would not
be injurious to the public welfare. The property owner to the east of the subject property
(322 12th Ave), which is the closest property to the proposed improvement, has signed a
letter of no-objection and is in support of this application.

I (we) believe the Board of Adjustment and Appeals and the City Commission should
grant this application because: 

It meets all the Code criteria for granting the variance. It allows the Applicant to update
his homestead to include a usable garage without redeveloping the entire property. It
minimizes the impact to the public by allowing a small addition to an existing garage, for
a total of 180 new square feet, on what is already a concrete driveway. The granting of
the variance helps preserve the charm and appearance of the home, and it is in harmony
with the general intent and purpose of the Code for the reasons stated above. 







            320 12TH AVENUE

INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL 33785

SHEET #  1  OF  1

CHECKED BY: EWD

CADD:   ARM

SCALE:   1" = 30'

FLOOD ZONE:

(1.) BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON ARE REFERENCED TO THE WEST

PROPERTY LINE OF LOT 15  WHICH IS N 00°09'00" W PER PLAT.

(2.)  LEGAL PROVIDED BY CLIENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

(3.)  NO UNDERGROUND IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED EXCEPT AS SHOWN.

(4.) THIS SURVEY WAS PREPARED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF A TITLE

COMMITMENT THEREFOR THE ONLY SURVEY MATTERS SHOWN ARE

PER THE RECORD PLAT. THERE MAY BE ADDITIONAL MATTERS OF

RECORD, NOT SHOWN WHICH CAN BE FOUND IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS

OF THE CORRESPONDING COUNTY OF RECORD.

(5.) THERE MAY BE EXISTING RECORDED EASEMENTS CONTAINED IN

THE PUBLIC RECORDS NOT DEPICTED HEREON THAT ONLY A

THOROUGH TITLE SEARCH WOULD UNCOVER.

(6.) SURVEY IS FOR CONVEYANCE PURPOSES UNLESS OTHERWISE

NOTED. IF USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AND/OR DESIGN PLEASE

CONTACT OFFICE TO GET APPROVAL.

(7)OWNERSHIP OF FENCES NOT DETERMINED

ERNEST W DUNCAN PSM.,STATE OF FLORIDA

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR AND MAPPER LS 5182

NOT VALID WITHOUT THE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE

AND/OR THE ORIGINAL RAISED SEAL OF A FLORIDA

LICENSED SURVEYORAND MAPPER.

THIS SURVEYS MEETS THE STANDARDS OF PRACTICE AS SET

FORTH BY THE FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL SURVEYORS

AND MAPPERS IN CHAPTER 5J-17, FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION (OR BOOK 21903, PAGE 963)

LOT 3, BLOCK 88, FIRST ADDITION TO RE-REVISED MAP OF INDIAN

BEACH SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE PLAY THEREOF,

RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 23, PAGES 11,12 AND 13 OF THE PUBLIC

RECORDS OF PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA.

AND

THAT PART OF LOT 4, BLOCK 88, FIRST ADDITION TO RE-REVISED

MAP OF INDIAN BEACH SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE PLAY

THEREOF, RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 23, PAGES 11,12 AND 13 OF

THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FROM A POINT OF BEGINNING AT MOST

EASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 4 RUN THENCE SOUTH 45

DEGREES 17 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST 41.42 FEET; THENCE

SOUTH 51 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST 57.76 FEET;

THENCE SOUTH 47 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 33 SECONDS WEST,

22.63 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE ON SOUTHERLY LOT LINE

OF SAID LOT 4 (SAID LINE ALSO BEING NORTHERLY

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF BAY SHORE BOULEVARD) THENCE WITH

SAID LOT LINE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, RADIUS 285.0 FEET,

ARC 26.51 FEET, CHORD SOUTH 51 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 36

SECONDS EAST, 26.50 FEET, TO SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF

SAID LOT 4; THENCE NORTH 36 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 00

SECONDS EAST, ALONG EASTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID LOT

4, 120.0 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

ENCROACHMENT NOTES:

FENCES CROSSING PROPERTY LINE.

PAVER WALKWAY AND WOOD DOCK CROSS PROPERTY LINE.

CERTIFIED TO (AS FURNISHED)

EARL WETHEIM

TITLE AGENCY OF FLORIDA,  A DIVISION OF

    FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE OF FLORIDA, INC.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY

FIELD DATE:

OVERHEAD CABLES (OH)

POLYVINYL CHLORIDE FENCE (PVCF)

CHAIN LINK FENCE (CLF)

WOOD FENCE (WF)

METAL FENCE (MF)

°  DEGREE SYMBOL

       WATER METER            LIGHT POLE

       AT&T BOX                     UTILITY POLE

GENERAL LEGEND
A/C

AF

BM

CB

CME

C/L

CLF

CBS

CHATT

CONC

CO

D

DE

EB

ELEV

X 0.00'

EOP

EOW

FFE

FDH

FH

FN

FIP

FIR

FND

INV

L

LP

LME

N&D

MF

MH

OH

ORB

O/S

PB

PC

PG

PL

POB

POC

PP

P&M

PVCF

R

R/W

S/W

SIR

SND

TYP

UE

WF

WM

WV

= AIR CONDITIONER

= ALUMINUM FENCE

= BENCHMARK

= CATCH BASIN

= CANAL MAINTENANCE EASEMENT
= CENTERLINE

= CHAIN LINK FENCE

= CONCRETE BLOCK STRUCTURE

= CHATTAHOOCHEE

= CONCRETE
= CLEAN OUT

= DELTA (CENTRAL ANGLE)

= DRAINAGE EASEMENT

= ELECTRIC BOX

= ELEVATION

= ELEVATION

= EDGE OF PAVEMENT

= EDGE OF WATER

= FINISHED FLOOR

= FOUND DRILLHOLE

= FIRE HYDRANT

= FOUND NAIL

= FOUND 1/ 2" IRON PIPE

= FOUND 1/ 2" IRON ROD

= FOUND NAIL & DISC

= INVERT

= ARC LENGTH

= LIGHT POLE

= LAKE MAINTENANCE EASEMENT

= NAIL & DISC

= METAL FENCE

= MAN HOLE

= OVERHEAD CABLES
= OFFICIAL RECORD BOOK

= OFFSET

= PLAT BOOK

= POINT OF CURVATURE

= PAGE

= PLANTER

= POINT OF BEGINNING

= POINT OF COMMENCEMENT

= POOL PUMP

= PLAT AND MEASURED

= POLYVINYL CHLORIDE FENCE

= RADIUS

= RIGHT OF WAY

= SIDEWALK

= SET 1/ 2" IRON ROD #7788

= SET NAIL & DISC
= TYPICAL

= UTILITY EASEMENT

= WOOD FENCE

= WATER METER

= WATER VALVE

JOB #: 66264

SUBJECT PROPERTY SHOWN HEREON APPEARS TO

BE LOCATED WITHIN FLOOD ZONE "AE" ,

AREAS DETERMINED TO BE INSIDE OF THE 500-YEAR

FLOODPLAIN PER F.I.R.M. PANEL #12103C0114H LAST

REVISION DATE: 08/24/21 (PER MAPWISE) THIS

SURVEYOR MAKES NO GUARANTEES AS TO THE

ACCURACY OF THE ABOVE REFERENCED

INFORMATION. THE LOCAL F.E.M.A. AGENT SHOULD

BE CONTACTED FOR ABSOLUTE VERIFICATION.

THIS SURVEY IS MEANT TO BE PRINTED

ON 11" X 17" SIZE PAPER. IF PRINTED

ON SMALLER OR LARGER SIZE PAPER

THEN THE SCALE IS NOT VALID.

Boundary Survey

SURVEYORS NOTES:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

CLIENT #:

03/23/23

EASEMENT:

SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS NOTED ON RECORD PLAT.



2870 2468

9073

30
68

3068

12' 16' 12'

40'

25
'-2

 1
/2

"

50
'

57
'-4

 3
/4

"

10'-8" X 21'-0"

AS-BUILT FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

UNFINISHED WALLS AND CLG OPEN TO TRUSSES

FEMA FLOOD ELEVATION: ZONE AE/(EL 10)

NOTE: MOST WALLS IN THIS HOUSE COULD BE A
BEARING WALL, IT IS HARD TO TELL WITHOUT
OPENING THE CEILINGS.

FLOOR HEIGHT NOTE: 
TOTAL HEIGHT: 9'-7" 1st FLOOR TO 2nd FLOOR
APPROX 1'-7" FOR THE 2nd STORY FLOOR
MAIN STAIR NOTE: 
(13X) 8" RISER, (12X) 11" TREAD

EXISTING STRUCTURE:

HOUSE WAS BUILT IN 1957.
FOUNDATION: CONTINOUS POORED FOOTING.
FLOOR SYSTEM: CONCRETE SLAB ON GRADE.
EXTERIOR WALLS: STUCCO ON CMU WALLS.
ROOF FRAMING: HIP & DUTCH GABLE ROOF, PREFAB
TRUSSES OVER EXISTING FLAT ROOF WITH
CONVENTIONAL FRAMING, 5.5:12 & 6:12 ROOF
PITCH, 24" OH ALL AROUND, PLUMB CUT FASCIA.
ROOF COVER: TILE IMMITATION METAL ROOF.

ROOF PLANES ARE REPRESENTED BY DOTTED GREEN
LINES.

2" SQ ALUM FRAME SCREENED ENCLOSURE W
ALUM ROOF PANELS

2

1

DESIGN SCHEDULE

NEW OPG/WINDOW/DOOR IN EXIST WALL

FILL EXIST WINDOW/DOOR OPENING

NEW BASE CABINET(SHADED)

NEW WALL CABINET (ANGLE HATCH)

NEW 96" HEIGHT CABINET (YELLOW)

NEW POST AND FOOTING TO BE VERIFIED

NEW BEAM AS HIGH AS POSSIBLE

NEW FLOOR SAME LEVEL AS EXISTING

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

EXISTING STRUCTURE LEGEND

ROOF SUPPORT IN ATTIC APPROX LOCATION

BLOCK COLUMN IN CRAWL SPACE TO
SUPPORT FLOOR APPROXIMATE LOCATION

A/C

ELEC

U
P

 7
"

UP 4"

R
EF

(2) 48"x 48"
SH

TANKLESS
W/H

CH: 8'-0"

V
A

U
LT

ED
 

C
EI

LI
N

G
V

A
U

LT
ED

 
C

EI
LI

N
G

CLOSET

ATTIC
ACCESS

HP: 11'-0"

LP: 9'-10"

DINING 
AREA

ST
O

V
E

DW

5 SH

24
"x

 4
8"

SH2668

W

D
LINEN

A/C

UP 4"

V
A

U
LT

ED
   

 C
EI

LI
N

G

IRONNING
BOARD

COOKTOP

OVEN

WALL
OVEN

MW

24" PANTRY

W
A

TE
R

TR
EA

TM
EN

T

GABLE WALL

ACCESS TO A/C
HANDLER

SUSPENDED IN ATTIC

CONC SLAB

ROOF RAFTERS 2x6" @ 18" oc 
CLG JOISTS 2x4 @ 24" oc

BOB: 7'-7"

PREFAB TRUSSES @ 24" oc

BEARING WALL

7 RISERS @ 7.5"
8 THREAD @ 10"

BOS: 7'-7"

P
O

O
L

EQ
U

IP
M

EN
T

PAVERS

24" ROOF OH

4:12
PITCH

W/D
COMBO

ATTIC PICTURES FROM
THIS LOCATION

RANGE

TRASH
HOOD

U
P

 7
"

DN

D
N6"Ø

4:12
PITCH

DN

BRG VERT ROOF SUPPORT
APPROX LOCATION

V C

V
 C

V
 C

W/D
COMBO

(15x) 7.66" RISER
(13x) 11" TREAD

QUEEN SIZE

WINDOW ABREVIATIONS

SH SINGLE HUNG
DH DOUBLE HUNG
HG HORIZON GLIDER
FG: FIXED GLASS, 
PT PASS-THROUGH
RO ROUGH/BLOCK OPENING
CASEMENT, AWNING, JALOUSIE
NOTE:
HEADER: STANDARD WINDOW
HEADER HEIGHT OF 80" IS NOT
SHOWN ON THE DRAWING BUT OTHER
SPECIAL HEIGHT WILL BE SHOWN.

ABREVIATIONS

ELEC ELECTRICAL BOX / METER
W/D WASHER / DRYER
REF REFRIGERATOR
BOB BOTTOM OF BEAM
BOS BOTTOM OF SOFFIT
CH CEILING HEIGHT
HP CEILING HIGH POINT
LP CEILING LOWER POINT
CLG CEILING
DR DOOR
OH OVERHANG
CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
A/C AIR CONDITIONING UNIT
AA ATTIC ACCESS
VC VAULTED CEILING
CS CRAWL SPACE

SURFACE AREA

EXIST HOUSE LIVING AREA: 1339 SF
EXIST GARAGE: 410 SF
EXIST FRONT PORCH: 72 SF
NEW OFFICE AREA: 157 SF
NEW BACK PORCH: 108 SF
TOTAL LIVING A/C SPACE: 1505 SF
TOTAL SPACE: 2095 SF

WALL LEGEND

TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING MASONRY WALL

EXISTING FRAMED WALL

EXISTING FRAMED BEARING WALL

NEW MASONRY WALL & INFILL

NEW FRAMED WALL & INFILL

NEW BEARING WALL & INFILL

LIKELY NEW BEAM TO BE VERIFIED

24"x 48"
SH

HEADER: 84"

GENERAL NOTES:

BRAND, STYLE, KIND, COLOR, ETC. OF ALL FINISHES
AND MATERIALS, ELECTRICAL FIXTURES,
APPLIANCES, EQUIPMENT ARE TO BE AGREED AND
NEGOTIATED BETWEEN THE OWNER AND
CONTRACTOR AND ARE NOT A PART OF THESE
DESIGN DOCUMENTS.

ANY REVISIONS OR CHANGES NOT RELATED TO THE
CORRECTION OF ERRORS THAT ARE MADE AFTER THE
FINAL PLANS HAVE BEEN COMPLETED SHALL BE
SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL FEES.

WOOD DECK

SH
O

W
ER

GARAGE

LIVING RM

BEDROOM

PAVERS

PAVERS

CONC SLAB

CONC DRIVE

74
"x

 3
9"

C
A

SE
M

EN
T

74"x 39"
CASEMENT

94"x 48"
BAY

CH: 8.52'

CH: 8.68'

D
N

BOS: 8.05'

U
P

 4
"

48" ROOF OH

24" ROOF OH24" ROOF OH

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

TOP OF CMU
WALL: 8'-4"

DOOR LEGEND

  EXIST DR SIZE KEY   NEW DR SIZE KEY
       2'-8" X 7'-0"       2'-4" X 6'-8"

36
"x

 3
7"

SH

10888

9070

15
'

12'

10'-8" X 14'-4"

10'-8" X 21'-0"

DESIGN FLOOR PLAN R1
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

FLOOR HEIGHT NOTE: 
TOTAL HEIGHT: 9'-7" 1st FLOOR TO 2nd FLOOR
APPROX 1'-7" FOR THE 2nd STORY FLOOR
MAIN STAIR NOTE: 
(13X) 8" RISER, (12X) 11" TREAD

NEW STRUCTURE:

FOUNDATION: CONTINOUS POORED FOOTING.
FLOOR SYSTEM: CONCRETE SLAB ON GRADE.
EXTERIOR WALLS: STUCCO TO MATCH WITH EXISTING
ON CMU WALLS.
ROOF FRAMING: DUTCH GABLE ROOF, PREFAB
TRUSSES WITH MAXIMIM STORAGE, 12:12 ROOF
PITCH, 24" EAVE OH & 12" GABLE OH, PLUMB CUT
FASCIA.
ROOF COVER: TILE IMMITATION METAL ROOF
SIMILAR TO EXISTING.

ROOF PLANES ARE REPRESENTED BY DOTTED GREEN
LINES.

2

1

DESIGN SCHEDULE

NEW OPG/WINDOW/DOOR IN EXIST WALL

FILL EXIST WINDOW/DOOR OPENING

NEW BASE CABINET(SHADED)

NEW WALL CABINET (ANGLE HATCH)

NEW 96" HEIGHT CABINET (YELLOW)

NEW POST AND FOOTING TO BE VERIFIED

NEW BEAM AS HIGH AS POSSIBLE

NEW FLOOR SAME LEVEL AS EXISTING

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

EXISTING STRUCTURE LEGEND

ROOF SUPPORT IN ATTIC APPROX LOCATION

BLOCK COLUMN IN CRAWL SPACE TO
SUPPORT FLOOR APPROXIMATE LOCATION

A/C

ELEC

U
P

 7
"

UP 4"

R
EF

(2) 48"x 48"
SH

TANKLESS
W/H

CH: 8'-0"

V
A

U
LT

ED
 

C
EI

LI
N

G
V

A
U

LT
ED

 
C

EI
LI

N
G

CLOSET

ATTIC
ACCESS

HP: 11'-0"

LP: 9'-10"

DINING 
AREA

ST
O

V
E

DW

5 SH

24
"x

 4
8"

SH2668

W

D
LINEN

A/C

UP 4"

V
A

U
LT

ED
   

 C
EI

LI
N

G

IRONNING
BOARD

COOKTOP

OVEN

WALL
OVEN

MW

24" PANTRY

W
A

TE
R

TR
EA

TM
EN

T

GABLE WALL

ACCESS TO A/C
HANDLER

SUSPENDED IN ATTIC

CONC SLAB

ROOF RAFTERS 2x6" @ 18" oc 
CLG JOISTS 2x4 @ 24" oc

BOB: 7'-7"

PREFAB TRUSSES @ 24" oc

BEARING WALL

7 RISERS @ 7.5"
8 THREAD @ 10"

BOS: 7'-7"

P
O

O
L

EQ
U

IP
M

EN
T

PAVERS

24" ROOF OH

4:12
PITCH

W/D
COMBO

ATTIC PICTURES FROM
THIS LOCATION

RANGE

TRASH
HOOD

U
P

 7
"

DN

D
N6"Ø

4:12
PITCH

DN

BRG VERT ROOF SUPPORT
APPROX LOCATION

V C

V
 C

V
 C

W/D
COMBO

(15x) 7.66" RISER
(13x) 11" TREAD

QUEEN SIZE

SURFACE AREA

EXIST HOUSE LIVING AREA: 1339 SF
EXIST GARAGE: 410 SF
EXIST FRONT PORCH: 72 SF
NEW OFFICE AREA: 157 SF
NEW BACK PORCH: 108 SF
TOTAL LIVING A/C SPACE: 1505 SF
TOTAL SPACE: 2095 SF

WALL LEGEND

TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING MASONRY WALL

EXISTING FRAMED WALL

EXISTING FRAMED BEARING WALL

NEW MASONRY WALL & INFILL

NEW FRAMED WALL & INFILL

NEW BEARING WALL & INFILL

LIKELY NEW BEAM TO BE VERIFIED

24"x 48"
SH

HEADER: 84"

GENERAL NOTES:

BRAND, STYLE, KIND, COLOR, ETC. OF ALL FINISHES
AND MATERIALS, ELECTRICAL FIXTURES,
APPLIANCES, EQUIPMENT ARE TO BE AGREED AND
NEGOTIATED BETWEEN THE OWNER AND
CONTRACTOR AND ARE NOT A PART OF THESE
DESIGN DOCUMENTS.

ANY REVISIONS OR CHANGES NOT RELATED TO THE
CORRECTION OF ERRORS THAT ARE MADE AFTER THE
FINAL PLANS HAVE BEEN COMPLETED SHALL BE
SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL FEES.

WOOD DECK

SH
O

W
ER

GARAGE

LIVING RM

BEDROOM

PAVERS

PAVERS

C
O

N
C

 S
LA

B

CONC DRIVE

74
"x

 3
9"

C
A

SE
M

EN
T

74"x 39"
CASEMENT

94"x 48"
BAY

CH: 8.52'

CH: 8.68'

BOS: 8.05'

U
P

 4
"

48" ROOF OH

24" ROOF OH24" ROOF OH

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

24
" 

R
O

O
F 

O
H

TOP OF CMU
WALL: 8'-4"

W
A

TE
R

TR
EA

TM
EN

T

36
"x

 3
7"

SH

CH: 8'-10"

D
N

NEW GARAGE

CEILING TO REMAIN
SAME HEIGHT AS
EXISTING GARAGE

REMOVE EXIST WALL &
REPLACE WITH A BEAM
AS HIGH AS POSSBLE

PULL DN
STAIRS ATTIC

ACCESS

DORMER

PREFAB TRUSSES WITH
MAXIMUM STORAGE
SPACE IN THE ATTIC
(SEE PICTURE)

PREFAB TRUSSES @ 24" oc

NEW 12:12 PITCH
GABLE ROOF

MARK  DATE   DESCRIPTION

ISSUE DATE:

11

REVISIONS

1

3

4

2

5

6

SCALE:    AS SHOWN

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:     C D

DATE:   AUG 10, 2023

PROJECT NB:

SHEET NUMBER:

W
E

R
T

H
IE

M
'S

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

32
0 

12
th

 A
V

E
N

U
E

,
IN

D
IA

N
 R

O
C

K
S

 B
E

A
C

H
, F

L 
33

78
5

UNFINISHED ATTIC STORAGE SPACE

3D FRONT VIEW WITH NEW ADDITIONEXISTING HOUSE

NEW GARAGE ADDITION
WITH 12:12 ROOF PITCH



N

15
.0

0'

12.00'

15
.0

0'

25
'

15
.3

7'

NEW
PAVERS

CONC
SLAB

20' BLDG SETBACK LINE

25' BLDG SETBACK LINE7.5' BLDG
SETBACK LINE

12
' B

LD
G

 S
ET

B
A

C
K

 L
IN

E

PROPOSED
ADDITION

SCREENED
PORCH

WD DECK

C
O

N
C

 D
R

IV
E

COV
PORCH

PAVERS

LOT 7

CONC SLAB

CONC SLAB

ABREVIATIONS:

A/C AIR CONDITIONING UNIT

CONC  CONCRETE

EXIST EXISTING

DR  DRIVE

COV   COVERED

C/C COVERED CONCRETE

ZONING CODE: S

DESIGN SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"= 10'

FEMA FLOOD ELEVATION:  ZONE X

1 STORY
MAS

RESIDENCE
#8848

10' BLDG SETBACK LINE

NEW CONC
SLAB

TOTAL LAND AREA: 3000 SF
50% OF 3000= 1500 SF MAX BUILDING
FOOTPRINT
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 1306 SF

TOTAL IMPERVIOUS SURFACE: 1306 SF
DIVIDED BY 300 = 43%

SURFACE AREA:

LOT 13

LOT 14

A/C
HOT
TUBPAVERS

7.
5'

 B
LD

G
 S

ET
B

A
C

K
 L

IN
E

5'
 B

LD
G

 S
ET

B
A

C
K

 L
IN

E

SHELL
DRIVE

TOTAL LAND AREA: 3000 SF
50% OF 3000= 1500 SF MAX BUILDING
FOOTPRINT
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 1306 SF

SUB TOTAL: 4135 SF...(724 SF LEFT)
PARKING & DRIVE AREAS: 552 SF WAS 792

WALKWAYS: 0 SF WAS 965 SF
OTHER: 172 SF WAS 495 SF
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS SURFACE: 4859 SF
DIVIDED BY 7475 = 65%

RELOCATED A/C

NEW CONC
SLAB

PROPOSED
ADDITION

NEW
ROOF

PARC

LOT 20
BLOCK 5

SUN
LIT C

O
VE D

RIVE

3' Ø OAK
TREE

LOT 2
BLOCK 11

7.5' B
LD

G SETBACK LIN
E

20' BLDG SETBACK LINE

NEW
G

ARA
G

E

LOT 1
BLOCK 11

POOL

7.5' BLD
G SETBACK LIN

E

25' BLDG
 SETBA

C
K LIN

E

C
O

V

PO
RC

H

25' BLDG SETBACK LINE

CONC D
RIVE

SHED MARK  DATE   DESCRIPTION

ISSUE DATE:

22

REVISIONS

1

3

4

2

5

6

SCALE:    AS SHOWN

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:     C D

DATE:   AUG 09, 2023

PROJECT NB:

SHEET NUMBER:

W
E

R
T

H
IE

M
'S

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

32
0 

12
th

 A
V

E
N

U
E

,
IN

D
IA

N
 R

O
C

K
S

 B
E

A
C

H
, F

L 
33

78
5

ZONE: S

FLOOD ZONE ELEVATION: ZONE X  0.2% PTC



September 15, 2023 

City of Indian Rocks Beach 

Planning and Zoning Department 

1507 Bay Palm Boulevard 

Indian Rocks Beach, Florida 33785 

RE: Variance Application 

Earl Wertheim - 320 12th Avenue 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

My name is Anthony P. Marzulli, and I serve as the Trustee of the Anthony P. Marzulli Revocable 

Living Trust, dated 1/7 /99. The Trust owns the property located at 322 12th Avenue, Indian Rocks 

Beach, Florida 33785, which is where I reside. I am Mr. Wertheim's next-door neighbor to the east 

of his property located at 320 12th Avenue. I have reviewed the above-referenced Variance 

Application and reviewed the proposed design plans. The proposed extension of Mr. Wertheim's 

garage will not be injurious to me or my property, and it will not otherwise be detrimental to the 

public welfare. Please be advised that this correspondence serves as my Letter of No Objection 

to the approval of the Application. 

r 

Anthony P. Marzulli 

Trustee of the Anthony P. Marzulli Revocable Living Trust, 1/7 /99 



1

Hetty Harmon

Subject: FW: 320 12th Ave., IRB, FL

 
 
 
From: Thomas Ries <tries@ecosphererestoration.org>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 10, 2023 8:16 AM 
To: Kornijtschuk, Lorin <lkornijtschuk@irbcity.com> 
Subject: 320 12th Ave., IRB, FL 
 
I support this variance requested, as described in the mailed no. ce to extend their structure into the 25’ front yard 
setback at the above noted address! 
Tom 
 
 
Thomas F. Ries  
President  
Ecosphere Restoration Institute  
A Non-Profit Organization  
13801 Walsingham Rd., Unit A-416  
Largo, Florida 33774  
(TEL) 813.376.9076 
www.ecosphererestorationinstitute.org  
 

dmock
Typewritten Text
From: 323 12th Ave



 

City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 1 of 6 
 

MINUTES — OCTOBER 17, 2023 
CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS AND APPEALS 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Indian Rocks Beach Board of Adjustments and Appeals was held on 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 17, 2023, at 6:00 p.m., in the City Commission Chambers, 1507 Bay 
Palm Boulevard, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 

1. CALL TO ORDER. Chair DeVore called the meeting to order at 6:17 p.m. 

2. ROLL CALL: 

PRESENT: Chair Stewart DeVore, Vice-Chair David Watt, Board Member Rick Alvarez, and 
Board Member Michael A. Campbell. 

ABSENT: Alternate Board Member Karen O’Donnell. 

OTHERS PRESENT:  City Attorney Randy Mora, Planning Consultant Hetty C. Harmon, 
AICP, and City Clerk Lorin A. Kornijtschuk.  

(To provide continuity for research, items are listed in agenda order although not necessarily 
discussed in that order.) 

City Attorney Mora stated that the case the Board will be considering tonight is a quasi-judicial 
proceeding not legislative. In a quasi-judicial capacity, the Board is not making the law, but 
rather applying the law to establish criteria and guidance in the City Code based on the 
competent, substantial evidence the Board receives this evening. 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: August 15, 2023. 

Motion made by Board Member Alvarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Watt, to approve the 
August 15, 2023, minutes as submitted. UNANIMOUS APPROVAL BY ACCLAMATION. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 
AYES: Alvarez, Watt, Campbell, Devore 
NAYS: None 
 
4. BOA CASE NO. 2023-08- 320 12th Avenue, INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 
       Owner/Applicant  Earl Wertheim 

 Subject Location:  320 12th Avenue 

Legal Description:  Lot 3, Block 88,  1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach 
Subdivision, recorded in Plat Book 23 Pages 11,12 and13, 
of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida & that part 
of Lot 4, Block 88, 1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach 
Subdivision Described as  Beg Most E'ly Cor of  Lot 4 
Thence S36D01'00"W 120FT Thence Cur RT RAD 285FT 
ARC 26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT Thence 
N47D46'33"E 22.63FT Thence N51D15'00"E 57.76FT 
Thence N45D17'36"E 41.42FT To POB (Map S-06-30-15)   



 

City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 2 of 6 
 

Parcel #   01-30-14-42048088-0030   

Variance Request: Variance request from Sec.110-131(1) f.1 of the Code of 
Ordinances, of 10 feet into the required 25-foot front yard 
setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the 
extension of the garage.   

[Beginning of Staff Report.] 
 
OWNER   Earl Wertheim  
LOCATION of PROPERTY:  32012th Ave 
ZONING:    S- Single- Family Residential  
 

Direction Existing Use Zoning Category 

North Intracoastal N/A 

East Residential   S 

South Residential S 

West Residential   S 

 
BACKGROUND:  
The applicant is requesting a variance of 10 ft into the front yard to allow for an extension on the 
garage so that the owner can park his vehicle inside the garage.  The house was constructed in 
1957. 
 
Sec. 2-152. - Variances. 
 (a) Generally; criteria for granting variances from the terms of subpart B. 
 

(1) The board of adjustments and appeals shall make recommendations on 
and the city commission shall decide variance applications will not be contrary to 
the public interest, where, owing to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the 
provisions of subpart B will result in unnecessary and undue hardship. In order to 
recommend or decide any variance from the terms of subpart B, the board or the 
city commission shall consider each of the following. 

 
a. Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, 
structure or building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, 
structures or buildings in the same zoning district. 

 
The property is a pie-shaped lot located along a curved right of way.  
 
b. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the 
applicant. 

 
The applicant did not create any special conditions or circumstances. 

 



City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 3 of 6 

c. Granting the variance will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that
is denied by subpart B to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning
district.

Granting the variance would confer special privileges to the applicant. 

d. Literal interpretation of the provisions of subpart B would deprive other
properties in the same zoning district under the terms of subpart B and would work
unnecessary and undue hardship upon the applicant.

The approval of this variance request would not deprive other owners of use and 
enjoyment of their properties.  

e. The variance granted is the minimum variance that will make possible the
reasonable use of the land, structure or building; and

This is the minimum variance to allow the owner to enlarge the garage to be able 
to park his car. 

f. The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and
purpose of subpart B, and such variance will not be injurious to the area involved
or be otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.

Granting the variance will not be in harmony with the general intent and purpose 
of subpart B. 

NOTICE:  A public notice was mailed by first class mail to property owners within 150 feet in any 
direction of the subject property and posted on subject property on October 2, 2023, (Sec. 2-149 
of the Code of Ordinances.) 

CORRESPONDENCE:  Neighbors at 322 12th Avenue and 323 12th Ave have signed off on the 
proposed setback. 

MOTION: 
I move to recommend to the City Commission APPROVAL/DENIAL of BOA CASE NO. 2023-08 
– 320 12th Avenue  Variance request from Sec.110-131(1) f.1 of the Code of Ordinances, of 10
feet into the required 25 foot front yard setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the
extension of the garage  for property located at 320 12th Avenue, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida,
and legally described as  Lot 3, Block 88,  1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision,
recorded in Plat Book 23 Pages 11,12 and13, of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida &
that part of Lot 4, Block 88, 1st Addition to  Re-Revised Indian Beach Subdivision Described as
Beg Most E'ly Cor of  Lot 4 Thence S36D01'00"W 120FT Thence Cur RT RAD 285FT ARC
26.51FT CB N51D29'36"W 26.50FT Thence N47D46'33"E 22.63FT Thence N51D15'00"E
57.76FT Thence N45D17'36"E 41.42FT To POB (Map S-06-30-15)

[End of Staff Report.] 



 

City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 4 of 6 
 

City Attorney Mora read by title only Agenda Item No. 4, BOA Case No. 2023-08, 320 12th 
Avenue. 
 
City Attorney Mora inquired of the members if they had any ex-parte communications with the 
applicant or their agent in advance tonight concerning the application before them. All members 
have responded in the negative. 
 
City Attorney Mora inquired of the members if they had conducted a site visit for the limited 
purpose of evaluating the application that they are considering this evening.  
 
Member Alvarez and Chair DeVore responded affirmatively Vice-Chair Watt and Member 
Campbell responded negatively. 
 
City Attorney Mora asked Member Alvarez and Chair Devour when they visited the property, for 
how long and if the site visit would impair their ability to partially adjudicate this matter. 
 
Member Alvarez replied his visit was on October 17, 2023, for approximately one minute and 
that it would not impair his ability to partially adjudicate this matter. 
 
Chair Devour replied his visit was on October 16, 2023, for approximately one minute and that it 
would not impair his ability to partially adjudicate this matter. 
 
City Attorney Mora duly swore in all persons planning to give testimony during the quasi-judicial 
proceeding. 
 
Planning Consultant Harmon explained the variance while presenting a PowerPoint 
presentation. 
 
Board Member Alvarez asked what the staff recommendation was. 
 
City Attorney Mora responded that staff will no longer provide a recommendation simply 
advising the criteria as perceived by city staff. 
 
Board Member Campbell stated that this properties setback looks significantly deeper than the 
properties on either side of it.  
 
Planning Zoning Consultant Harmon replied that the property is on a curve. 
 
Board Member Campbell asked if there were any safety concerns issues such as line of site. 
 
Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmond replied that the trees are protruding from the 
neighbor’s yard, so there is not a line of site issues. 
 
Chair DeVore requested that staff confirm the existing garage dimensions and description. 
 
Planning and Zoning Consultant replied that it is a full operational one car garage, and 
measures at 10’ x 21’. 
 
Agent/Representative Lauren Rubenstein, Denhardt and Rubenstein Law, 2700 1st Avenue N. 
St. Petersburg, FL. made a PowerPoint Presentation to the Board. 



City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 5 of 6 

Ms. Rubenstein stated that currently, the garage is a functioning garage but there is not enough 
space for the client’s vehicle. It was one of the reasons the prior homeowner sold the home.  
She highlighted some of the city’s code for granting the variance.   

She stated that all the criteria have been met and that special conditions and circumstances 
exist which are peculiar to the land and are not applicable to other lands in the same zoning 
district.  

She stated the subject property is on a pie-shaped lot along a curved right of way.  She pointed 
out that member Campbell stated how unusually far the right of way comes up into the driveway. 
She stated that looking at the property you would think the house is set back extremely far, it is 
currently 55 feet from the edge of the pavement, which is only 30 feet from the property line, but 
it is different than many of the homes in that neighborhood. The garage would still be 40 feet 
away from the curb, there would not be any line of site issues, and would not interfere with the 
conformity of the neighborhood.  

She stated the need for the special conditions is not a result of the applicant. It does not 
interfere with the existing circular driveway and would not increase the impervious surface like 
building a new garage would do.  

She stated that the variance would not confer special privileges to the applicant, there are many 
homes in the area that can accommodate larger vehicles that appear to be closer to the road. 
The unusual circumstances are that the right of way is so far extended into the client’s driveway. 
The literal interpretation of the code would show undue hardship on the applicant. Development 
is limited on this property because of the pie-shaped lot.  

She stated that this proposed variance is the minimum variance that would make possible the 
reasonable use of the structure and the least amount of impact. The granting of the variance 
would be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of the code. 

Applicant Earl Wertheim, 320 12th Avenue, stated his property has a larger setback compared to 
the rest of the properties in his area, and is just asking for a bit more garage space. 

Vice-Chair Watt asked how the pie shape lot is a hardship. 

Ms. Rubenstein replied the amount of development area is so much less, for there to be any 
usable yard/ green space, that is really the only area he has.   

Vice-Chair Watt asked could you avoid needing a variance if you only built out 5 feet. 

Applicant Werthem replied it would not be big enough to open doors on either side. The addition 
is the same size as the existing one, however the existing garage has mechanical equipment on 
each side that makes it impossible to open the doors. The existing front end would possibly 
accommodate a golf car or storage. While the addition will give him the ability to park his car, 
open the doors and walk around. He stated his hardship would be that he would have to leave 
his car outside. 

Chair DeVore closed the public hearing. 



 

City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Board of Adjustment Mee�ng Minutes- October 17, 2023 
Page 6 of 6 
 

Member Campbell stated unlike every other case that comes before the board, this property has 
a unique hardship because of the extreme radius.  
 
Member Alvarez stated due to the shape of the lot and the radius curve this is a reasonable 
request for the Board to consider. 
 
Chair DeVore stated aesthetically it would fit in and he does not see this as a unreasonable 
request. 
 
Vice-Chair Watt stated he did not disagree but does not view it as a hardship. It is a benefit, the 
use of more right away is the curved road there is no loss there, but because of the depth and 
curb visual distance it clearly fits. 
 

Motion made by Board Member Alvares, Seconded by Board Member Campbell to 
recommend to the City Commission to APPROVE  BOA Case No. 2023-08, a variance 
request from Sec.25-foot(1) f.1 of the Code of Ordinances, of 10 feet into the required 25 
foot front yard setback, resulting in a total setback of 15 feet for the extension of the 
garage.   
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: 
AYES: Alvarez, Watt, Campbell, Devore 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUS 
 
5. OTHER BUSINESS. 
 
6. ADJOURNMENT. 
Motion made by Board Member Watt, seconded by Board Member Campbell, to adjourn 
the meeting at 6:45 p.m.  UNANIMOUS APPROVAL BY ACCLAMATION. 
 
 
___________________     ____________________________ 
Date Approved      Stewart Devore 
 
/lak 
 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 6B 
PUBLIC HEARING 

Ordinance No. 2023-07 
 

SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDMENT:  
Request to change the Future Land Use from Residential/Office/Retail 

(R/O/R) to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50 - Business District 
Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) for an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units to 
the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd St. As described in Exhibit “A”. 

 
& 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 6C 
PUBLIC HEARING 

Ordinance No. 2023-08 
 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT:  
Request for an amendment to the Holiday Inn Harborside (formerly known 
as Hamlin’s Landing) Planned Unit Development for an additional 112 units 
with 92 lock off units for the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd Street, 

Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 



Page 1 of 6 
 

   
INDIAN ROCKS CITY COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 

 
 MEETING OF:  November 14, 2023   AGENDA Item: 6B 

 
     
ORIGINATED BY:  Hetty C. Harmon, AICP 
  City Planner 
 
AUTHORIZED BY: Brently Gregg Mims 
 City Manager 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING / LAND PLANNING AGENCY: The Planning and Zoning/Land 
Planning Agency recommended denial to the City Commission by a vote of 6-0. 
 
 
SUBJECT: SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDMENT ORDINANCE NO. 
2023—07: Request to change the Future Land Use from Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R) to 
Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50 - Business District Triangle  (CG-TLD50-BDT) for 
an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units to the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd St. As 
described in Exhibit “A”  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
OWNER:   Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership 
LOCATION of PROPERTY:  401 2nd St 
FUTURE LAND USE:  Residential/Office/Retail 
ZONING:   PUD- Planned Unit Development 
      
 
Direct

ion Existing Use Future Land Use Zoning Category 

North Preservation  Preservation Preservation/Business 
East Intracoastal Waterway N/A N/A 

South Keegan Clair Park Recreation/Open Space Recreation/Open Space 

West Business/Chic-a Si Park Commercial General/ 
Recreation/Open Space 

Business/Recreation Open 
Space 

 
I. BACKGROUND  
 
Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership has requested to amend the Future Land Use Map for the 
12.3 acre site for the property located at 401 2nd St. The Future Land Use Map amendment will 
allow for the development of an additional 112 2-Bedrooms with 92 of the units having lock off 
units for a total of 204 additional units. These additional 204 units would increase the existing site 
total to 568 units, with a density of 47 units per acre. Currently there are 364 units on site, with an 
existing density of 30 units per acre. 
 
The current Future Land Use Category Residential/Office/Retail allows up to 15 units per acre. 
The proposed Future Land Use change to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- 
Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) would allow up to 50 units per acre. The CG-TLD50-



Page 2 of 6 
 

BDT is subject to a development agreement and is required for temporary lodging densities 
greater than 15 units per acre. 
 
II. REVIEW OF THE LAND USE AMENDMENT  
The future Land Use Amendment was reviewed with compliance with the following: 
 

1. City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan 
2. Countywide Plan 
3. City of Indian Rocks Beach Land Development Code -Business Triangle Overlay Zone 

regulations. 
 
1.     City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan 
 
Sec. 110-802. - Standards for review of proposed comprehensive plan 
amendments. 
(a)No amendment shall be recommended for approval by the local planning agency 
without an affirmative vote from the majority of the full membership of the board or 
approved by the city commission without an affirmative vote from the majority of the full 
membership of the city commission, in accordance with the requirements of section 
110-8, based upon evidence presented at public hearing and the following standards: 

(1)  Conformance with the requirements of this Code. 
(2) The available uses to which the property may be put are appropriate to the 

property in question and are compatible with the existing and planned uses in 
the area. Determination of appropriateness shall include consideration of, but 
not be limited to, soil conditions, vegetative classifications, drainage, 
topography, and potential flooding. 

(3) The amendment is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the   
comprehensive plan. 

(4)  The amendment will not result in significant adverse impacts to the 
environment or historical resources. 

(5) The amendment will not create an isolated district unrelated to the scale and 
character of adjoining future land use plan map designations. 

(6) The amendment will not adversely affect adjoining property values. 
(7) The amendment will neither adversely impact nor exceed the capacity or the 

fiscal ability of the city to provide available public facilities, including 
transportation, water, sanitary sewer, stormwater drainage, recreation, solid 
waste disposal, and other similar public facilities. Compliance with the adopted 
level of service standards can be demonstrated if necessary. 

(8) The amendment shall provide for efficient and orderly development 
considering the impact upon growth patterns and the cost to the city to provide 
public facilities. 

STAFF COMMENT: Review of the proposed development based on the above 
criteria finds that the project does not meet: 
(1) Conformance with the requirements of this Code and  
(3)The amendment is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the 
comprehensive plan. 
 

https://library.municode.com/fl/indian_rocks_beach/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADERE_CH110ZO_ARTIINGE_S110-8AMPRCOCH
https://library.municode.com/fl/indian_rocks_beach/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADERE_CH110ZO_ARTIINGE_S110-8AMPRCOCH


Page 3 of 6 
 

  
 
 

 
A.  ALLOWABLE DENSITY 
 
The Future Land Use change to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business 
District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) has been reviewed for compatibility with City of Indian Rocks 
Beach Comprehensive Plan. The CG-TLD50-BDT Land Use District would allow for up to 50 units 
per acre. 
 
The City’s Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle (CG-
TLD50-BDT) Future Land Use Category allows the increased density if the plan addresses Design 
Considerations. The purpose of the design considerations is to enable the local government to 
authorize the increased density and intensity. 
 
In particular, design considerations applicable to the proposed use shall address the following in 
the Development Agreement so as to ensure compatibility in terms of context-sensitive design, 
and the scale and placement of the proposed use so as to achieve a harmonious relationship and 
fit relative to its location and surroundings: 
 
A. Building scale, including height, width, location, alignment, and spacing. 
 
B. Building design, including elevations, façade treatment, entrance and porch or balcony 

projections, window patterns and roof forms. 
 
C. Site improvements, including building and site coverage, accessory structures, service 

and amenity features, walkway and parking areas, open space, and view corridors. 
 
D. Adjoining property use, including density/intensity, and building location, setbacks, and 

height. 
 
STAFF COMMENT: Review of the proposed development based on the above design 
criteria finds that the project does not meet the standard design criteria.  
 
The proposed building height of the 54 unit building is 85’7” ft. This height is not in 
compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan or Land Development Code and is not 
compatible with surroundings and the entrance into the City of Indian Rocks Beach. The 
adjacent buildings to the south are 52 ft. and the proposed building height of the other two 
buildings are 57’6” and 42’9” 50 ft. The building height is measured from the crown of the 
road at 2nd St. 
 
 
B. TRAFFIC IMPACTS 

 
The traffic study indicates that the level of service will decrease from a Level of Service B to Level 
of Service C at the intersection of 5th Avenue and 1st Street.  
 



Page 4 of 6 
 

The overall traffic impact if all of the lock off units were rented would be 1,110 daily trips and an 
additional 90 PM peak hour trips. The traffic study states that all affected intersections and 
roadway segments would continue to operate acceptable levels of service. 
 
C. COASTAL HIGH HAZARD AREA 
 
The property is totally located in the Coastal High Hazard area and needs to be evaluated 
balancing criteria located in the Coastal Management & Conservation section of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan.  
Objective 2.2   The City shall not increase densities or intensities above those established in this 
plan within the Coastal High Hazard Area (CHHA), except that they may, at their sole and absolute 
discretion, consider approving such amendment based upon a balancing of the following criteria, 
as are determined applicable and significant to the subject amendment: 
 

1. ACCESS TO EMERGENCY SHELTER SPACE AND EVACUATION ROUTES  
Since the proposed amendment will not increase in permanent residential populations, 
adverse impacts to emergency shelter space capacity are not anticipated. 
Walsingham Rd is a designated evacuation route and this project is located adjacent to 
Walsingham Rd. 
 

2. UTILIZATION OF EXISTING AND PLANNED INFRASTRUCTURE 
This project will be served by existing infrastructure. 
 

3. UTILIZATION OF EXISTING DISTURBED AREAS – 
The project will utilize the existing disturbed area within the Business Triangle and no natural 
areas that buffer existing storms will be altered as a result of the proposed development. 
  

4. WATER DEPENDENT USE 
The proposed project is adjacent to docks on the intracoastal that are part of the overall 
development. 
 

5. PART OF COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 
This project is not in a community redevelopment plan but is an amendment to an existing 
Planned Unit Development.  
 

6. OVERALL REDUCTION OF DENSITY OR INTENSITY 
This proposal is to increase the density in the area, however the proposed land use is 
compatible with the County Wide Plan and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

7. CLUSTERING OF USES 
 The entire City is within the CHHA making it impossible to cluster uses outside of the CHHA.  
 
8. INTEGRAL PART OF COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING PROCESS 

The Harborside development has been a vital part of the Business Triangle for years.  
 

 
2. COUNTYWIDE PLAN 

 
The Future Land Use amendment has been reviewed for compatibility with the Countywide Map 
Plan, and specially the Coastal High Hazard Area requirements and the Alternative Temporary 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Lodging Use Standards. The Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards allow for increased 
density up to 50 units per acre. 
 
The County’s Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards allow the increased density if the 
plan addresses Design Considerations. The purpose of the design considerations is to enable the 
local government to authorize the increased density and intensity. Sec 5.2.2.2 of the County Wide 
Rules addresses the building height compatibility.  
 
STAFF COMMENT: Review of the Countywide Plan will allow for the proposed density 
however, there are conditions not being met. The design considerations in the County’s 
Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards are also included in the Commercial-
General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle and were not met.  
 
3. CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE - 
BUSINESS TRIANGLE OVERLAY ZONE REGULATIONS. 

 
The Business Triangle Overlay zone was reviewed for setbacks as discussed in the Design 
considerations in the Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle. 
According to Section 110-135 (e) (1), a 5-foot setback would ordinarily be allowed with a city 
reviewed and approved landscaping plan. The plan is showing a 4-foot side setback along the 
north property line, resulting in a one-foot deviation from the ordinary standard. 
 
STAFF COMMENT: Review of the Business triangle overlay zone in Section 110-135 (e) (1), 
a 5-foot setback would ordinarily be allowed with a city reviewed and approved 
landscaping plan. The proposed plans show a 4-ft setback along the north property line. 
The applicant believes that the landscape plan previously submitted and installed along 
2nd St. covers the perimeter of the site. There is no additional landscape plan for the site 
at this time that would show additional landscaping along the north property line. This 
property does abut a preservation area and is very dense. A full landscape plan will be 
required before development 
 
The Local Planning Agency shall review all materials, facts, documents and forward a 
recommendation to the City Commission. 
 
After the first public hearing The Future Land Use Map Amendment will be sent to Forward 
Pinellas for their compliance review with the County Wide Plan. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE:  5 letter of support were received and are included in the agenda packet. 
 
                                                                       
 
MOTION: 
 
I move to recommend to the City Commission [APPROVE / DENY] FLU ORDINANCE NO. 
2023—07: Requesting to change the Future Land Use from Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R) to 
Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50 - Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) for 
an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units to the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd St. As 
described in Exhibit “A”. 
 

EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



Page 6 of 6 

A tract of land in Section 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a portion of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a portion of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a portion of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Section 12; thence along the south boundary of said Section12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 
along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence 
S. 81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said
point bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning.

ASLO BEING DESRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book74, 
page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 



Page 1 of 3 
 

    CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-07 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA; AMENDING THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP OF THE CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS 
BEACH, FLORIDA, BY A SMALL SCALE LAND USE AMENDMENT TO 
THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP BY RECLASSIFYING LAND FROM 
RESIDENTIAL/OFFICE/RETAIL (R/O/R) TO COMMERCIAL-
GENERAL-TEMP LODGING DENSITY 50 - BUSINESS DISTRICT 
TRIANGLE (CG-TLD50-BDT) FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 401 
2ND ST PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL OF A CORRESPONDING  
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR TEMPORARY 
LODGING; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership, owns the real property located at 
401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, legally described as set forth in “Exhibit A” to this 
Ordinance; and 
  
 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership desires to develop the real property 
located at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, for an additional 112 units, with 92 lock-
off units to be called “Holiday Inn Harbourside”; 
 
 WHEREAS, on February 8, 2023, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership submitted its 
Future Land Use Amendment Map application materials, as attached in “Exhibit B”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership, intends to develop the Property in 
accordance with the Planned Unit Development Agreement, as set forth in the attached “Exhibit 
C”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on October 19, 2023, the LPA/Planning and Zoning Board of the City of 
Indian Rocks Beach reviewed the Future Land Use Map Amendment Application and at a public 
hearing after due notice and recommended [approval / rejection] of the proposed the Future Land 
Use Map Amendment; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 
Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (2) (b) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to building height per 110-135 (11)(g); and 
 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 
Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (2) (b) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to side yard setback per Section 110-311(e)(1); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission has considered the findings and recommendation of the 
Land Planning Agency/Planning and Zoning Board and has held its own public hearings on the 
application after due notice and finds that the Property, as described in Exhibit A, and finds it is 



Page 2 of 3 
 

suitable in location and character for the uses and structures proposed in said application according 
to the criteria set forth in the City’s Comprehensive Plan governing the Commercial-General-
Temp Lodging Density 50  - Business District Triangle Future Land Use. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The recitations set forth above are hereby incorporated as findings of fact 
and are adopted by the City Commission. 
 

SECTION 2. The City of Indian Rocks Beach Future Land Use Plan, shall be amended by 
redesignating the property at 401 2nd Street, to the Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 
50  - Business District Triangle in accordance with to the provisions of Ordinance and further 
subject to the additional conditions, requirements, and findings described in this Ordinance and 
the Exhibits thereto. 
 

SECTION 3.  The effective date of this ordinance amending the City of Indian Rocks 
Beach’s land use plan shall be 31 days after adoption, unless the amendment is challenged pursuant 
to Section 163.3187(3), F.S.  If challenged, the effective date of this amendment shall be the date 
a final order is issued by the Department of Economic Opportunity, or the Administration 
Commission, finding the amendment in compliance with Section 163.3184, F.S.  No development 
orders, development permits or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or 
commence before it has become effective.  If a final order of noncompliance is issued by the 
Administration Commission, this amendment may nevertheless be made effective by adoption of 
a resolution affirming its effective status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to the 
Department of Economic Opportunity, Bureau of Local Planning, 2555 Shumard Oak Blvd., 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2100. 

 
 ADOPTED ON FIRST READING on the _____ day of ___________2023, by the City 
Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida 
 
 ADOPTED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING on the _____ day of 
_______________________, 2023, by the City Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, 
Florida.  
 

  ______________________________ 
Joanne Moston “Cookie” Kennedy 
Mayor-Commissioner 

 
ATTEST 
 
______________________________________ 
Lorin Kornijtschuk, City Clerk 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land in Section 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a portion of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a portion of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a portion of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Section 12; thence along the south boundary of said Section12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 
along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence 
S. 81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a 
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a 
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears 
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said 
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet 
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said 
point bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of 
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ASLO BEING DESRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book74, 
page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos 

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant 

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot 

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos 

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208 

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620 

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION 
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 

 



401 2nd Street.
Ordinance No. 2023-07
Ordinance No.  2023-08



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-07

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS 
BEACH, FLORIDA; AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP OF THE CITY OF 
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH., FLORIDA, BY A SMALL SCALE LAND USE AMENDMENT TO 
THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP BY RECLASSIFYING LAND FROM 
RESIDENTIAL/OFFICE/RETAIL (R/O/R) TO COMMERCIAL-GENERAL-TEMP LODGING 
DENSITY 50 - BUSINESS DISTRICT TRIANGLE (CG-TLD50-BDT) FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 401 2ND ST PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL OF A 
CORRESPONDING  DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR TEMPORARY LODGING; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-08

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS 
BEACH, FLORIDA; AMENDING THE 2002 HOLIDAY HARBORSIDE  PLANNED 
UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT TO ALLOW FOR AN ADDTIIONAL 112 UNITS 
WITH 92 LOCK-OFF UNITS FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 401 2ND ST, 
INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FL; PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL OF A 
CORRESPONDING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR TEMPORARY LODGING; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.



401 2nd Street



ZONING

Project Site



FUTURE LAND USE

Commercial-General-
Temp Lodging Density 50 

Project Site



Survey



EXISTING USES

RESTAURANT

Site #2- 38 units

WEST PARKING LOT

S HOTEL, POOL AND 
NORTH  PARKING LOT

HOTEL

HOTEL AND WATER PARK



PROPOSED USES 

Project #1-54 units

Project #2- 38 units

Project #3-20 units



PROPOSED SITE PLAN



PROPOSED SITE PLAN



















































































dmock
Text Box
Exhibit " B-1"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-2"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-3"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-4"



EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land in Section 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a portion of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a portion of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a portion of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Section 12; thence along the south boundary of said Section12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 
along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence 
S. 81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a 
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a 
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears 
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said 
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet 
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said 
point bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of 
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ASLO BEING DESRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book74, 
page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos 

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant 

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot 

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos 

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208 

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620 

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION 
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 

 



























































Page 1 of 7 
 

INDIAN ROCKS CITY COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING OF:  November 14, 2023   AGENDA Item: 6C 
 

    
 
    
ORIGINATED BY:  Hetty C. Harmon, AICP 
    City Planner 
 
AUTHORIZED  BY:  Brently Gregg Mims  
    City Manager 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING / LAND PLANNING AGENCY: The Planning and Zoning/Land 
Planning Agency recommended denial to the City Commission by a vote of 6-0. 
 
SUBJECT: PUD  ORDINANCE NO. 2023—08: Request for an amendment to the Holiday Inn 
Harborside (formerly known as Hamlin’s Landing) Planned Unit Development for an additional 
112 units with 92 lock off units for the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks 
Beach, Florida. 
 
Property ID # 12-30-14-35363-001-0000, #12-30-14-35363-001-0010, #12-30-14-35363-002-
0100, #12-30-14-35363-002-0200, #12-30-14-35363-003-0000  
 
Legal is attached in Exhibit “A”   
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
OWNER:   Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership 
 
 

LOCATION of PROPERTY:  401 2nd St 
 
ZONING:   PUD- Planned Unit Development 
 
FUTURE LAND USE:  FLU- Residential/Office/Retail 
 
  

Direction Existing Use Zoning Category Future Land Use 
North Preservation  Preservation/Business Preservation 
East Intracoastal Waterway N/A N/A 

South Keegan Clair Park Recreation/Open Space Recreation/Open Space 

West Business/Chic-a Si Park Business/Recreation 
Open Space 

Commercial General/ 
Recreation/Open Space 



Page 2 of 7 
 

I. BACKGROUND  
 
Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership has requested to modify 4.0 +/- acres of the 12.13 acres 
of the 2002 Planned Unit Development (PUD) for the property located at 401 2nd St. If approved, 
the amended PUD would allow for the development of an additional 112 2-Bedroom units, with 
92 of those units having lock off units, thereby creating a total of 204 additional units. These 
additional 204 units would increase the existing site total to 568 units, with a density of 47 units 
per acre. Currently there are 364 units on site, with an existing density of 30 units per acre. 
 
To accommodate this increased density, the Property Owner is requesting a Future Land Use 
change that would allow for a higher density. The proposed Future Land Use change to 
Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) 
would allow up to 50 units per acre.  
 
The application, as a modification of the existing PUD along with the PDD district, which is 
required in the Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle 
regulations, the district would ordinarily allow for construction of up to 50 feet in height, absent 
any variance or differing agreement in the PUD process building height is measured from crown 
of road at 2nd St. The business triangle overlay district regulations will be utilized for setbacks 
requirements. 
 
The proposed building heights for the additional structures range from 42’9” ft on 2nd Street to 
85’7” ft along the intra-coastal. 
 
The setbacks comply with business triangle overlay district regulations except for the Project #1 
structure located at the old restaurant site. The proposed side property setback for this structure 
is four (4) feet to the side property line. The business triangle overlay district ordinarily requires a 
five (5) foot setback from the side property line. 
 
Presently, there are 461 existing parking spaces on the property, providing an estimated 1.27 
parking spaces per unit. The proposal provides for 484 total parking spaces for the 568 units (if 
all the lock offs units were rented) which would be .85 parking spaces per unit. No spaces are 
designated for public parking. 
 
II. APPLICABLE CITY CODE PROVISIONS 

A. Sec. 110-643 PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 
 

(1) Purpose and Intent of the PUD Zoning District: 
 

(a) It is the purpose of this district to provide a method for landowners or developers 
to submit unique proposals which may not be provided for or allowed in the other 
zoning districts otherwise established by this Code. The PUD zoning district allows 
a mix of residential and nonresidential uses and/or unique design features which 
might otherwise not be allowed in one of the other listed districts, but that 
otherwise conform to the City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(b) The PUD provisions are intended to promote flexibility of design and integration of 

uses and structures, while at the same time retaining in the City Commissioners the 
absolute authority to establish limitations and regulations thereon for the benefit of the 
public health, welfare and safety. By encouraging flexibility while retaining control by 



Page 3 of 7 
 

the City Commission, the PUD is designed to accomplish one or more of the following: 
 

1. Permit innovative residential, nonresidential, and mixed-use developments 
provide for an integration of housing types and accommodation of changing 
lifestyles within neighborhoods; and provide for design that encourages internal 
and external convenient and comfortable travel by foot, bicycle, and transit 
through such strategies as various street widths compatible with the type of 
development project proposed, modest setbacks, front porches, connected 
streets, multiple connections to nearby land uses, and mixed uses. 

 
2. Provide flexibility to meet changing needs, technologies, economics and 

consumer preferences. 
 
3. Preserve to the greatest extent possible, and utilize in a harmonious fashion, 

existing and outstanding landscape features and scenic vistas. 
 
4. Lower development and building costs by permitting smaller networks of utilities, 

and the use of more economical development patterns and shared facilities. 
 
5. Achieve overall coordinated building and facility relationships and infill 

development, and eliminate the negative impacts of unplanned and piecemeal 
development. 

 
6. Enhance the combination and coordination of architectural styles, building forms 

and building relationships within the development. 
 
7. Promote the use of traditional, quality-of-life design features, such as pedestrian 

scale, parking located to the side or rear of buildings, connected streets, 
terminated vistas, front porches, recessed garages, alleys, aligned building 
facades that face the street, and formal landscaping along streets and sidewalks. 

 
8. Provide an efficient public process for considering complex developments where 

the proposed development is of such size, scale, complexity, and/or unique 
design that it would be inconvenient and inefficient to process such a proposal 
outside the PUD process.  

(c)  All building code, housing code and other land use regulations of this Code are applicable to a 
PUD, unless otherwise approved within the PUD Ordinance.  

STAFF COMMENT: The proposed Planned Unit Development is inconsistent with the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. The proposed building height 
of 85’7” feet is  35’7”  feet higher than the allowed 50 feet on the old restaurant site. 
Also the north side yard setback is proposed at 4 feet and which is 1 foot less than the 
allowed 5 feet.   

  



Page 4 of 7 
 

B. Sec 110-644 Justification and Minimum Requirements for Rezoning to Planned Unit 
Development. 

 
(1) An applicant for a PUD rezoning must present evidence in the PUD Narrative that 

the rezoning to PUD is justified by one or more of the following: 
 

(a) The proposed development is unique. Although it does not fit within an existing 
zoning district, it is consistent with the city comprehensive plan. The proposed 
development is of such size, scale, complexity, and/or unique design that it would 
be inconvenient and inefficient to process such a proposal outside the PUD 
process. 
 

(b) The nature of the proposed use at a specific site requires specialized design 
characteristics to preserve and protect neighborhood character, environmental 
concerns and other concerns unique to the immediate area, consistent with 
comprehensive plan policies. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The site plan proposes access to the site 2nd Street and will add 
1,110 trips per day, per the applicant’s enclosed traffic study.  

 
(2) The applicant for the PUD rezoning must further present evidence in the aforementioned 

PUD Narrative that the rezoning to PUD meets the following standards: 
 

(a) The density and/or intensity, character and type of development proposed in the 
development plan is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, future land use map 
and the concurrency management system, and the development plan meets one 
or more of the objectives set forth in section 110-643 above. 
 

STAFF COMMENT: The project would be located in the Commercial-General-Temp 
Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle future land use district which would 
allow for 50 units per acre. 
 
(b) An evaluation of the external compatibility of a PUD should be based on the following 

factors: (1) adjacent existing and proposed uses, (2) design of the development to 
avoid undue noise, odor, traffic or other nuisances and other nuisances and dangers 
to abutting property owners; (3) traffic circulation to ensure the transportation system 
and streets are of sufficient width and capacity to serve the demands created by the 
development; and (4) density and/or intensity including type and size of structures 
and/.or units and height shall be considered to address compatibility. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed project would be consistent with adjacent uses, 
would avoid nuisances and dangers to adjacent properties, access would be off of 
2nd Street which is a one way street. The building height of the proposed project 
would be incompatible with adjacent uses. 
 
This proposed development has deviated from the Land Development Regulations 
in Section 110-131 (11) (g) Maximum building height. For buildings constructed on 
pilings, the maximum height of pilings is ten feet. The maximum height of a building 
above pilings is 40 feet. Otherwise, the maximum height of a building is 50 feet. This 
proposal is requesting building heights to be 85’7” ft. 

 



Page 5 of 7 
 

This proposed development has deviated from the Land Development Regulations 
in Section 110-135(e)(1) A ten-foot minimum setback is required on other property 
boundaries abutting a right-of-way. The remaining boundary setbacks shall be five 
feet minimum with a city-reviewed and approved landscaping plan, which shall meet 
the overlay zone requirements regarding in-ground landscaping and irrigation. In 
addition to the additional 35’7” of height, this proposal is also requesting a four 
foot setback on the north side of building, as opposed to the ordinary five foot 
setback restriction. 
 
(c) Usable open spaces, and recreation areas provided within a PUD must provide 

appropriate recreational opportunities, protect sensitive environmental areas, 
conserve areas of unique beauty or historical significance, enhance neighborhood 
design, and encourage compatible and cooperative relationships between adjoining 
land uses. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: This proposed development has maintained the wetland areas 
and there is an existing pool on-site.  
 
 (d) Every dwelling unit or other use permitted in the PUD shall have access to a public 

street either directly or by way of a private road, pedestrian way, court or other area 
which is either dedicated to public use or is a common area guaranteeing access. 
Permitted uses are not required to front on a dedicated public road, but at a minimum, 
private roads and other access ways shall be required to be constructed so as to 
ensure that they are safe and maintainable. To that end, all public roads within any 
PUD shall be constructed in accordance with the latest applicable FDOT 
specifications. The City further recommends that private roads be built to the latest 
applicable FDOT specifications Connection to existing or planned adjacent streets is 
required, where applicable and feasible to minimize adverse traffic impacts. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed development has direct access to 2nd Street from 
the private interior drive. 2nd Street is a one way street.  

 
(e)   Sufficient off-street parking for bicycles, automobiles and other vehicles must be 

provided. Parking areas must be constructed in accordance with the standards 
outlined in the Land Development Regulations in the City’s Code, and any 
deviations must be specifically identified and approved by the city commission to 
ensure that they are safe and maintainable and that they allow for sufficient privacy 
for adjoining uses. The design of a PUD should, whenever feasible, incorporate 
appropriate pedestrian and bicycle access ways so as to provide for a variety of 
mobility opportunities. Connection to all sidewalks, greenways, trails, bikeways, 
and transit stops along the perimeter of the PUD is required. Where existing 
perimeter sidewalks do not exist, sidewalks shall be provided by the development 
unless otherwise approved within the PUD Ordinance. 
 

STAFF COMMENT: This proposed development has deviated from the Land 
Development Regulations in Section 110-372(2) Required number of parking 
spaces; (2)- Multifamily dwellings: Two spaces for one- and two-bedroom units; 
three spaces for three-bedroom units and above. The project consists of 2-bedroom 
units which ordinarily require 2 spaces per unit. Instead, the Property Owner is 
proposing an overall parking space to unit ratio of .85 spaces per unit. 

 



Page 6 of 7 
 

The applicant has not provided any bike racks onsite. 
 

(f) Utilities and essential public services, including but not limited to, sanitary sewer, 
potable water, fire abatement services or appurtenances, solid waste, and other 
services must be available and have capacity to serve the development. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed development has access to all requisite services.  
 

Section 110-646 - Application requirements for preliminary review by City staff. 
 
STAFF COMMENT: City staff reviewed the preliminary application including the location map, 
description and conceptual plan and found it to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 
110-646. 
 
Section 110-647- Application requirements for rezoning to PUD 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The City staff reviewed the application documents and site plan drawings, 
survey, landscape plan, traffic study and architectural renderings and found them to be consistent 
with the submittal requirements in Section 110-647 (a).  
In Section 110-647(b)5 - we may require a detailed landscape plan meeting or exceeding the 
requirements of this Code for all new or existing uses; 
In Section 110-822(d) requires a PUD be compliant with the Design Standards. The architectural 
design does not meet Section 110-825(c) requiring articulation of building mass facing a right-of-
way.  
 
 
 
 
 
MOTION: 
I move to recommend to the City Commission [APPROVAL / DENIAL] of PUD ORDINANCE NO. 
2023—08: Requesting an amendment to the Holiday Inn Harborside (formerly known as Hamlin’s 
Landing) Planned Unit Development for an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units for the 
Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, FL.  
  



Page 7 of 7 
 

EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land in Section 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a portion of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a portion of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a portion of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Section 12; thence along the south boundary of said Section12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 
along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence 
S. 81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a 
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a 
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears 
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said 
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet 
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said 
point bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of 
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ASLO BEING DESRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book74, 
page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos 

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant 

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot 

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos 

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208 

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620 

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION 
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 

 
 



Page 1 of 2 
 

    CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-08 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF INDIAN 
ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA; AMENDING THE 2002 HOLIDAY INN 
HARBOURSIDE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT TO 
ALLOW FOR AN ADDTIIONAL 112 UNITS WITH 92 LOCK-OFF UNITS 
FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 401 2ND ST, INDIAN ROCKS 
BEACH, FL; PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL OF A CORRESPONDING 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR TEMPORARY LODGING; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership, owns the real property located at 
401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, legally described as set forth in “Exhibit A” to this 
Ordinance; and 
  
 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership desires to develop the real property 
located at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, for an additional 112 units with 92 lock-
off units to be called “Holiday Inn Harbourside”; and 

 
 WHEREAS, February 8, 2023, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership submitted its 
Planned unit development application materials, as attached in “Exhibit B”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership, intends to develop the Property in 
accordance with the Development Agreement, as set forth in the attached “Exhibit C”; and 

  
 WHEREAS, on October 19, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Board of the City of Indian 
Rocks Beach reviewed the PUD conceptual site plan and at a public hearing after due notice and 
recommended [approval / rejection] of the proposed PUD conceptual site plan. 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 
Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (2) (e) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to parking per Section 110-372 (2); and 
 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 
Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (2) (b) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to building height per 110-135 (11)(g); and 

 
WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 

Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (2) (b) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to side yard setback per Section 110-311(e)(1);  and 

 
WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed redevelopment, Gulf Coast Marina Limited 

Partnership, pursuant to Section 110-644 (1) (a) has made a request to deviate from Code 
provisions related to design Standards per Section 110-822 (d);  and 

 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission has considered the findings and recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Board and has held its own public hearings on the application after due notice 
and finds that the Property, as described in Exhibit A is suitable in location and character for the 
uses and structures proposed in said application according to the criteria set forth in the City’s 
Code governing Planned Unit Developments. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Whereas Clauses set forth above are hereby incorporated as findings of 
fact and are adopted by the City Commission. 
 

SECTION 2. The Property for 401 2nd  Street shall amend the Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Ordinance and further subject to 
the additional conditions, requirements, and findings described in this Ordinance and the Exhibits 
thereto. 
 
 SECTION 3. The 401 2nd Street Amended Planned Unit Development concept shall 
proceed in accordance with this Ordinance and in the manner set forth in the development plan 
and schedule for development indicated in the amended Harborside PUD Agreement attached 
hereto as Exhibit 3 and is hereby approved by the City Commission. The Harbourside PUD is also 
subject to the requirements of Ordinance 2023- ___, except as otherwise provided herein. Further, 
the conditions of the City of Indian Rocks Beach Code, establishing the methodology for final 
development plan, the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and such conditions and safeguards as may be 
established by the City Commissioners are applicable. 
 
 SECTION 4.  This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage, subject to the 
valid adoption and enactment of Ordinance 2023-07, amending the Future Land Use designation 
for the Property. 
 
 

ADOPTED ON FIRST READING on the___ _____ day of ________________,2023 by 
the City Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida 
 
 ADOPTED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING on the _____ day of 
_______________________, 2023, by the City Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, 
Florida.  
 

____________________________ 
Joanne Moston “Cookie” Kennedy 
Mayor-Commissioner 

 
ATTEST 
 
______________________________________ 
Lorin Kornijtschuk, City Clerk 









































































































































dmock
Text Box
Exhibit " B-1"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-2"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-3"



dmock
Text Box
Exhibit "B-4"

























































































NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

HOLIDAY INN HARBOURSIDE 
AMENDED AND RESTATED PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

RE: 401 2nd STREET 

T H IS  A M E N D E D  A N D  R E S T A T E D  P L A N N E D  U N IT  D E V E L O P M E N T  
A G R E E M E N T  ( h e r e i n a f t e r  "AGREEMENT") is dated the day of ________, is 
effective as of the date provided below in Paragraph 17 and is entered into by and between 
GULFCOAST MARINA, L.P., A FLORIDA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP (hereinafter 
"DEVELOPER"), and the CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA, a municipal 
corporation of the Slate of Florida (hereinafter "CITY"). 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the CITY, Article V, Planned Unit Development, 
Sections 110-641 through 110-653, provides the requirements and procedure to enter into a 
planned unit development agreement with any person having a legal or equitable interest in real 
property located within its jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, as of the date of execution of this AGREEMENT the DEVELOPER is the 
owner of the real property located at 399-401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, and 
more particularly described in Exhibit "A" (the "PROPERTY"), attached hereto and 
incorporated herein; and 

WHEREAS, this AGREEMENT is contingent upon the CITY'S final approval of all 
PUD-related plans, including but not limited to, the Final Site Plan, and any other legally 
required documents necessary to complete the CITY's PUD approval process; and 

WHEREAS, Section 110-6 of the Code of Ordinances of the CITY provides that a 
development in the PUD zoning districts is allowed to be developed as a planned unit 
development; and 

WHEREAS, the PROPERTY is approximately 12.13 acres in size and has a "PUD" 
zoning designation, and a Land Use Designation of Residential Office Retail (ROR) and a Plan 
Amendment to CG-TLD50-BDT has been filed with the City; and 

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER desires to develop 4.0+/- acres of the PROPERTY as a 
continuation of Phase III development from the prior Development Agreement to include an 
additional 112 units with potential for up to 92 additional lock-off units in four (4) additional 
buildings; and 

WHEREAS, Section 110-643 of the Code of Ordinances for the CITY provides that 
the purpose of its planned unit development regulations is to provide a method for landowners 
or developers to submit unique proposals which may not be provided for or allowed in the 
other zoning districts otherwise established by this; and 

WHEREAS, Section 110 641 of the Code of Ordinances for the CITY provides that 
planned unit developments promote flexibility of design and integration of uses and 

WHEREAS, Developer Gulfcoast Marina, L.P., a Florida Limited Partnership, pursuant to 
Section 110-644 (2) (e) has made a request to deviate from Code provisions related to building height 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

per Section 110-131 (11)(g), building setback per Section 110-135, and parking per Section 110-
372(2); and 

WHEREAS, such “special development standards” are permissible and encouraged by 
the PUD purpose contained in Section 110-641 of the Code. 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to enter into this AGREEMENT governing the 
development of the SUBJECT PROPERTY; and 

WHEREAS, this AGREEMENT is the culmination of discussions, conversations, 
negotiations and mutual understandings between the CITY and the DEVELOPER; and 

WHEREAS, this AGREEMENT enables the parties to set forth the manner by 
which the PROPERTY shall be developed in accordance with the City's land use and 
zoning categories and other requirements described herein, and in accordance with 
applicable Florida Law, the CITY's Charter, Comprehensive Plan, and the Code of 
Ordinances for the CITY. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of mutual benefits and the public interest 
and other good and valuable considerations, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 
1. RECITALS. The foregoing recitations are true and correct and are hereby 

incorporated by reference. All exhibits to this AGREEMENT are hereby deemed a part hereof 
as if fully set forth herein. 

 
2. DEVELOPMENT SITE. The DEVELOPER is the owner of the real property 

described on Exhibit "A", attached hereto and incorporated herein, and referred to as the 
"PROPERTY " 

 
3. DESIRE OF DEVELOPER. The DEVELOPER desires develop the Property as 

a Planned Unit Development and to revise a prior Development Agreement with the CITY to 
recognize the approved and existing Holiday Inn Harbourside (82 transient rental units (164 
lock off units)), Splash Harbour Water Park (recreational amenity), Harbourside at Marker 33 
(100 transient rental units (200 lock off units)) and to approve the development of the Property 
as: (1) a building located along the intracoastal waterway and SR688 to include 54 transient 
rental units (108 lock off units), approximately 5,000 square feet of indoor recreation area, and 
a pool; (2) a building located adjacent to  SR688 with 38 transient rental units (76 lock off 
units); and (3) two buildings containing 20 transient rental units immediately adjacent to 2nd 
Street including an elevated parking deck (as further described in the attached Site Plan) as 
described in the Code of Ordinances of the CITY. The arrangement of these buildings is shown 
on the PUD Site Plan dated July 12, 2022. 

 
4. REVIEW DOCUMENTS. The DEVELOPER has submitted an application for 

PUD approval to the CITY and will provide any and all additional documents requested by the 
CITY'S Planner, the CITY's Planning and Zoning Board, the CITY's Local Planning Agency 
or the City Commission in the course of the PUD review by the CITY. The DEVELOPER shall 
follow the PUD and development procedures set forth in the Code of Ordinances of the CITY. 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

 
5. USES. The uses to be located on the PROPERTY within the PUD shall be 

limited to the following. 
 
Transient Rental Units 
Water Park recreational amenity  
Indoor recreation areas 
Pools 
Restaurant(s) 
Bar(s) 
Retail Sales 
Resort leasing and operations 
Marina and associated uses 
Sale of Alcohol 
Meeting Space 
Banquet Space 
Parking 
 

6. SITE PLAN. The proposed planned unit development is accurately depicted in 
the Site Plan and Typical Building Elevation Drawings for the proposed new buildings. 
 

7. The DEVELOPER further agrees that the building heights will be consistent 
with the typical building elevation drawings and in compliance with all applicable land use 
regulations of the City pertaining to height restrictions, except as otherwise referenced in this 
Agreement. The height of proposed 54-unit building adjacent to the intracoastal waterway and 
SR688 shall be permitted up to 85’ 7” to mid-roof as measured from 2nd street crown of the 
roadway.  The height of the proposed 38-unit building shall be permitted up to 57’ 6” to the 
mid-roof as measured from 2nd street crown of roadway Additionally, City agrees that the 
height of the existing buildings shall continue to be permitted as originally approved and 
constructed. Building Elevations are contained in the PUD package submitted by the 
Applicant. 

 
8. The DEVELOPER further agrees that the Concept Plan shall be subject to CITY 

review for compliance with the CITY'S Comprehensive Plan and Code of Ordinances, and 
other applicable laws. 

 
9. ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTERISTICS. Pursuant to Chapter 110 of the 

Code of Ordinances of the CITY, all individual structures shall be related to each other in 
design, masses, materials, placement and connections to provide visually and physically 
integrated development and all structures shall be oriented as to reserve visual and audible 
privacy between adjacent structures and be accessible to emergency vehicles Chapter 110 of 
the CITY's Code of Ordinances also requires compliance with architectural themes and 
materials. The DEVELOPER's Final Site Plan shall be reviewed by staff to assure compliance 
with the renderings incorporated into this AGREEMENT and the DEVELOPER agrees to 
develop the PROPERTY. 

 
10. SCHEDULE. The exterior of the four units will be constructed within a three 

to five year period, the interior finishing completion time may vary for each unit. 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

 
11. STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT TO COMPLY WITH THE CITY  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. Subject to the provisions of the Code of Ordinances for the 
CITY, the DEVELOPER shall comply with all requirements of the CITY's Comprehensive 
Plan and Code of Ordinances, including but not limited to, landscaping. stormwater 
management, resource protection, the National Fire and Rescue Association (NFRA), and 
Pinellas Suncoast Fire and Rescue District (hereinafter PSFRD) Regulations (fire safety), 
and planned unit development regulations applicable to the SUBJECT PROPERTY at the 
time of permitting, unless such restrictions are explicitly waived or otherwise released as to 
the PUD. 

 
12. BUILDING PERMITS. No building permits, excluding any permits necessary 

for site development, shall be issued by the CITY for any development within the PUD until 
all of the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 
A. A final site plan had been submitted and approved by the CITY in 

accordance with the Code of Ordinances for the CITY; 
B. DEVELOPER has maintained legal or equitable ownership in and to the 

PROPERTY; and 
 

Building permits shall be required for all vertical construction on the PROPERTY. 
 

13. ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 
 

A. The parties to this AGREEMENT certify that there will be sufficient on 
and off-site infrastructure capacity or adequate public facilities for the development of the 
SUBJECT PROPERTY consistent with the plans approved herein or any portion thereof. 

 
B. The CITY shall annually review the SUBJECT PROPERTY to 

determine if there has been demonstrated good faith compliance with the terms of this 
AGREEMENT. If the CITY finds, on the basis of substantial competent evidence, that there 
has been failure to comply with the terms of this AGREEMENT, the AGREEMENT may be 
revoked or modified by the CITY, pursuant to the terms of this AGREEMENT. 

 
C. The DEVELOPER will not be deemed to have failed to comply with the 

terms of this AGREEMENT until the DEVELOPER has received notice from the CITY of the 
alleged non-compliance and until the expiration of a reasonable period after receipt of such 
notice to cure such non-compliance. Whether the time period has been reasonable shall be 
based on the nature of the non-compliance and shall be determined in the sole judgment of the 
City Manager, reasonably exercised. The DEVELOPER will not be deemed to have failed to 
comply with the terms of this AGREEMENT in the event such noncompliance, in the judgment 
of the City Manager, reasonably exercised, is of a minor or inconsequential nature 

 
D. This AGREEMENT is not intended to be an all-inclusive list of 

development restrictions and conditions, and that the failure of this AGREEMENT to address 
a particular permit, condition, term of restriction shall not relieve the DEVELOPER of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing said permitting requirements, conditions, term 
or restriction. 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

 
E. This AGREEMENT is contingent upon the CITY’S final approval of all 

PUD-related plans.  
 

F. All documents required to be recorded in the Official Records of 
Pinellas County, Florida by this Agreement shall be so recorded on or before _____________ 
or this Agreement shall be null and void. DEVELOPER shall be responsible for recording all 
documents required to be recorded under this AGREEMENT, however the City shall cause 
this AGREEMENT to be so recorded. 

 
G. The failure of this AGREEMENT to address a particular permit, condition, 

term or restriction shall not relieve the DEVELOPER of the necessity of complying with the law, 
including without any limitation, the applicable provisions of the City's Comprehensive Plan or Land 
Use Regulations 

 
14. CONSISTENCY WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. The CITY and 

DEVELOPER hereby agree that the development contemplated by this AGREEMENT is 
consistent with the CITY' S Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations as set forth in the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 

 
15. EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT. This 

AGREEMENT shall become effective upon execution by all Parties after passage and approval 
of the PUD Ordinance by the City Commission ("EFFECTIVE DATE"). This AGREEMENT 
shall remain in effect for five (5) years from the EFFECTIVE DATE as allowed by law Upon 
expiration, all approvals for the un-permitted portions or units of the PUD shall be null and 
void. This AGREEMENT may be amended or canceled by mutual consent of the parties lo this 
AGREEMENT or by their successor to interest as allowed by law. 

16. EFFECTIVE COVENANTS. The burdens of this AGREEMENT shall be 
binding upon, and the benefits of this AGREEMENT shall inure to, all successor s in interest 
of the parties to this AGREEMENT. 

 
17. ASSIGNMENT. This AGREEMENT may not be assigned to a third party 

without the advance written consent of the CITY. 
 
18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This AGREEMENT sets forth all of the promises, 

covenants, agreements, conditions and understandings between the parties hereto, and 
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, inducements or 
conditions, expressed or implied, oral or written, except as herein contained, but shall not be 
interpreted to void, waive, or otherwise release DEVELOPER from compliance with the City's 
Comprehensive Plan, Code of Ordinances, Land Development Regulation, Florida Building 
Code, State statutes and other applicable regulations, as noted above in Section 16 (D). 
 

19. BINDING EFFECT. The obligations imposed pursuant to this AGREEMENT 
upon the DEVELOPER or the SUBJECT PROPERTY shall run with and bind the SUBJECT 
PROPERTY as covenants running with the SUBJECT PROPERTY and this AGREEMENT 
shall be binding upon and enforceable by and against the parties hereto, their personal 
representatives, heirs, successors, grantees and assigns, and a copy of this AGREEMENT shall 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

be recorded among the Official Records of Pinellas County, Florida, upon execution of this 
AGREEMENT by the parties hereto. 

 
20. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity of any provision hereof shall in no way affect 

or invalidate the remainder of the AGREEMENT. 
 

21. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE. This AGREEMENT shall be construed 
by and controlled under the laws of the State of Florida. Venue for any dispute between the 
parties arising in connection with this AGREEMENT or the SUBJECT PROPERTY shall 1 ie 
exclusively within the courts located in Pinellas County, Florida. 
 

22. FURTHER ASSURANCES. Each of the parties hereto agrees to do, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, all such 
further acts and assurances as shall be reasonably requested by the other party in order to carry 
out the intent of this AGREEMENT and give effect thereto. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this AGREEMENT on the date and 
year first above written. 

 ATTEST: CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH , a 
municipal corporation 

By: __________________________   
 City Clerk City Manager 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
_______________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of: 
 

Witnesses: 

 

  

Witness #1 Signature 

 

  

Witness #1 Printed Name 

 

  

Witness #2 Signature 

 

  

Witness #2 Printed Name 

 

 

 

  

Gulfcoast Marina, L.P., a Florida 
Limited Partnership 

 

  

Printed Name 

 

Its:
  

Title 

State of Florida  
County of Pinellas 



NOTE: This is the Applicant’s proposed draft and 
remains subject to further revision and negotiation. 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _ day of ___________   
2018, by _____________________ as ____________ , on behalf of the corporation, who is 
personally known to me or produced ____________________ as identification. 

Notary Public Signature 

Notary Printed name  

Commission No.:



 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 695.36, this instrument was prepared by Randy Mora, Esq. Trask  
Daigneault LLP, 1001 South Fort Harrison Avenue, Suite 201, Clearwater, Florida 33756. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



 

4889-9042-6502, v. 1 

structures; and 
 
 



 

Page 1 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

MINUTES- OCTOBER 27, 2023 
CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD 

 
The Regular Meeting of the Indian Rocks Beach Planning and Zoning Board was 
held on THURSDAY, OCTOBER 19, 2023, at 6:00 p.m., in the City Commission 
Chambers, 1507 Bay Palm Boulevard, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER. Chair McFall called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 
2. ROLL CALL: 

 
PRESENT: Acting Chair Rick McFall, Board Member Adrienne Dauses, Board 
Member Scott Holmes, Board Member Herb Sylvester, Board Member Myra 
Warman, Board Member Peter Sawchyn, and Board Member Dave Mott. 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: City Attorney Jay Daigneault, Planning Consultant Hetty C. 
Harmon, and City Clerk Lorin A. Kornijtschuk. 

 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF: July 27, 2023. 
 

MOTION MADE BY MEMBER SYLVESTER AND SECONDED BY MEMBER 
HOLMES, TO APPROVE THE MAY 25, 2023, PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD 
MINUTES AS SUBMITTED.  

 
AYES: McFall, Sylvester, Dauses, Warman, Sawchyn, Holmes, Mott 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUS. 
 
City Attorney Daigneault read Ordinance No. 2023-07 and Ordinance No. 2023-08 by title 
only.  
 
City Attorney Daigneault clarified that these items will be discussed together, Ordinance No. 
2023-07 is a quasi-judicial item, The criteria under which that application proceeds are found 
in Section 110-802 of the City Land Development Code.  
 
City Attorney Daigneault read Land Development Code Section 110-802. 
 
Ordinance No. 2023-08 is a legislative matter and proceeds under Section 110-645 (1) (c) 
(1) of the Land Development Code. 
 
City Attorney Daigneault duly swore in all persons planning to give testimony during the 
quasi-judicial proceeding. 
 



 

Page 2 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

 
4. ORDINANCE NO. 2023-07- SMALL SCALE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

AMENDMENT: Request to change the Future Land Use from 
Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R) to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50 
- Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) for an additional 112 units with 92 lock 
off units to the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd St. As described in Exhibit 
“A.” 
 

[Beginning of Staff Report.] 
OWNER:   Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership 
LOCATION of PROPERTY:  401 2nd St 
FUTURE LAND USE:  Residential/Office/Retail 
ZONING:   PUD- Planned Unit Development   
 
Direct

ion Existing Use Future Land Use Zoning Category 

North Preservation  Preservation Preservation/Business 

East Intracoastal Waterway N/A N/A 

South Keegan Clair Park Recreation/Open Space Recreation/Open Space 

West Business/Chic-a Si Park Commercial General/ 
Recreation/Open Space 

Business/Recreation Open 
Space 

 

I. BACKGROUND  
Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership has requested to amend the Future Land Use Map for the 
12.3 acre site for the property located at 401 2nd St. The Future Land Use Map amendment will 
allow for the development of an additional 112 2-Bedrooms with 92 of the units having lock off 
units for a total of 204 additional units. These additional 204 units would increase the existing site 
total to 568 units, with a density of 47 units per acre. Currently there are 364 units on site, with an 
existing density of 30 units per acre. 

The current Future Land Use Category Residential/Office/Retail allows up to 15 units per acre. 
The proposed Future Land Use change to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- 
Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) would allow up to 50 units per acre. The CG-TLD50-
BDT is subject to a development agreement and is required for temporary lodging densities 
greater than 15 units per acre. 

II. REVIEW OF THE LAND USE AMENDMENT  
The future Land Use Amendment was reviewed with compliance with the following: 

1. City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan 
2. Countywide Plan 
3. City of Indian Rocks Beach Land Development Code -Business Triangle Overlay Zone 

regulations. 
 



 

Page 3 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

1. City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan 

A.  ALLOWABLE DENSITY 

The Future Land Use change to Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District 
Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) has been reviewed for compatibility with City of Indian Rocks Beach 
Comprehensive Plan. The CG-TLD50-BDT Land Use District would allow for up to 50 units per 
acre. 

The City’s Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-
BDT) Future Land Use Category allows the increased density if the plan addresses Design 
Considerations. The purpose of the design considerations is to enable the local government to 
authorize the increased density and intensity. 

In particular, design considerations applicable to the proposed use shall address the following in 
the Development Agreement so as to ensure compatibility in terms of context-sensitive design, 
and the scale and placement of the proposed use so as to achieve a harmonious relationship and 
fit relative to its location and surroundings: 

A. Building scale, including height, width, location, alignment, and spacing. 

B. Building design, including elevations, façade treatment, entrance and porch or balcony 
projections, window patterns and roof forms. 

C. Site improvements, including building and site coverage, accessory structures, service 
and amenity features, walkway and parking areas, open space, and view corridors. 

D. Adjoining property use, including density/intensity, and building location, setbacks, and 
height. 

STAFF COMMENT: Review of the proposed development based on the above design 
criteria finds that the project does not meet the standard design criteria.  

The proposed building height of the 54-unit building is 85’7” ft. This height is not in 
compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan or Land Development Code and is not 
compatible with surroundings and the entrance into the City of Indian Rocks Beach. The 
adjacent buildings to the south are 52 ft. and the proposed building height of the other two 
buildings is 50 ft. The building height is measured from the crown of the road at 2nd St. 

B. TRAFFIC IMPACTS 

The traffic study indicates that the level of service will decrease from a Level of Service B to Level 
of Service C at the intersection of 5th Avenue and 1st Street.  

The overall traffic impact if all of the lock off units were rented would be 1,110 daily trips and an 
additional 90 PM peak hour trips. The traffic study states that all affected intersections and 
roadway segments would continue to operate acceptable levels of service. 

C. COASTAL HIGH HAZARD AREA 



 

Page 4 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

The property is totally located in the Coastal High Hazard area and needs to be evaluated 
balancing criteria located in the Coastal Management & Conservation section of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan.  

 Objective 2.2   The City shall not increase densities or intensities above those established in this 
plan within the Coastal High Hazard Area (CHHA), except that they may, at their sole and absolute 
discretion, consider approving such amendment based upon a balancing of the following criteria, 
as are determined applicable and significant to the subject amendment: 

1. ACCESS TO EMERGENCY SHELTER SPACE AND EVACUATION ROUTES  
Since the proposed amendment will not increase in permanent residential populations, 
adverse impacts to emergency shelter space capacity are not anticipated. 
Walsingham Rd is a designated evacuation route and this project is located adjacent to 
Walsingham Rd. 
 

2. UTILIZATION OF EXISTING AND PLANNED INFRASTRUCTURE 
This project will be served by existing infrastructure. 
 

3. UTILIZATION OF EXISTING DISTURBED AREAS – 
The project will utilize the existing disturbed area within the Business Triangle and no natural 
areas that buffer existing storms will be altered as a result of the proposed development. 
  

4. WATER DEPENDENT USE 
The proposed project is adjacent to docks on the intracoastal that are part of the overall 
development. 
 

5. PART OF COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 
This project is not in a community redevelopment plan but is an amendment to an existing 
Planned Unit Development.  
 

6. OVERALL REDUCTION OF DENSITY OR INTENSITY 
This proposal is to increase the density in the area, however the proposed land use is 
compatible with the County Wide Plan and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

7. CLUSTERING OF USES 
 The entire City is within the CHHA making it impossible to cluster uses outside of the CHHA.  
 
8. INTEGRAL PART OF COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING PROCESS 

The Harborside development has been a vital part of the Business Triangle for years.  
 

2. COUNTYWIDE PLAN 

The Future Land Use amendment has been reviewed for compatibility with the Countywide Map 
Plan, and specially the Coastal High Hazard Area requirements and the Alternative Temporary 
Lodging Use Standards. The Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards allow for increased 
density up to 50 units per acre. 
 
The County’s Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards allow increased density if the plan 
addresses Design Considerations. The purpose of the design considerations is to enable the local 



 

Page 5 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

government to authorize the increased density and intensity. Sec 5.2.2.2 of the County Wide 
Rules addresses the building height compatibility.  
 
STAFF COMMENT: Review of the Countywide Plan will allow for the proposed density 
however, there are conditions not being met. The design considerations in the County’s 
Alternative Temporary Lodging Use Standards are also included in the Commercial-
General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle and were not met.  
 
 3. CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE - BUSINESS 
 TRIANGLE OVERLAY ZONE REGULATIONS. 

 
The Business Triangle Overlay zone was reviewed for setbacks as discussed in the Design 
considerations in the Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle. 
According to Section 110-135 (e) (1), a 5-foot setback would ordinarily be allowed with a city 
reviewed and approved landscaping plan. The plan is showing a 4-foot side setback along the 
north property line, resulting in a one-foot deviation from the ordinary standard. 

STAFF COMMENT: Review of the Business triangle overlay zone in Section 110-135 (e) (1), 
a 5-foot setback would ordinarily be allowed with a city reviewed and approved 
landscaping plan. The proposed plans show a 4-ft setback along the north property line. 
The applicant believes that the landscape plan previously submitted and installed along 
2nd St. covers the perimeter of the site. There is no additional landscape plan for the site 
at this time that would show additional landscaping along the north property line. This 
property does abut a preservation area and is very dense. A full landscape plan will be 
required before development. 

The Local Planning Agency shall review all materials, facts, documents and forward a 
recommendation to the City Commission. 

After the first public hearing The Future Land Use Map Amendment will be sent to Forward 
Pinellas for their compliance review with the County Wide Plan. 

EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land in Sec�on 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a por�on of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a por�on of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a por�on of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more par�cularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Sec�on 12; thence along the south boundary of said Sec�on12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 



 

Page 6 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence S. 
81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a 
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a 
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears 
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said 
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet 
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said point 
bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of 
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ASLO BEING DESCRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book 
74, page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos 

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant 

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot 

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos 

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208 

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620 

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION 
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 

   [End of Staff Report.] 
 

5. ORDINANCE NO 2023-08- PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT: Request for an 
amendment to the Holiday Inn Harborside (formerly known as Hamlin’s Landing) 
Planned Unit Development for an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units for the 
Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 

 
[Beginning of Staff Report.] 

I. BACKGROUND  
 

Gulf Coast Marina Limited Partnership has requested to modify 4.0 +/- acres of the 12.13 acres 
of the 2002 Planned Unit Development (PUD) for the property located at 401 2nd St. If approved, 
the amended PUD would allow for the development of an additional 112 2-Bedroom units, with 
92 of those units having lock off units, thereby creating a total of 204 additional units. These 



 

Page 7 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

additional 204 units would increase the existing site total to 568 units, with a density of 47 units 
per acre. Currently there are 364 units on site, with an existing density of 30 units per acre. 

To accommodate this increased density, the Property Owner is requesting a Future Land Use 
change that would allow for a higher density. The proposed Future Land Use change to 
Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) 
would allow up to 50 units per acre.  

The application, as a modification of the existing PUD along with the PDD district, which is 
required in the Commercial-General-Temp Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle 
regulations, the district would ordinarily allow for construction of up to 50 feet in height, absent 
any variance or differing agreement in the PUD process building height is measured from crown 
of road at 2nd St. The business triangle overlay district regulations will be utilized for setbacks 
requirements. 

The proposed building heights for the additional structures range from 42’9” ft on 2nd Street to 
85’7” ft along the intra-coastal. 

The setbacks comply with business triangle overlay district regulations except for the Project #1 
structure located at the old restaurant site. The proposed side property setback for this structure 
is four (4) feet to the side property line. The business triangle overlay district ordinarily requires a 
five (5) foot setback from the side property line. 

Presently, there are 461 existing parking spaces on the property, providing an estimated 1.27 
parking spaces per unit. The proposal provides for 484 total parking spaces for the 568 units (if 
all the lock offs units were rented) which would be .85 parking spaces per unit. No spaces are 
designated for public parking. 

II. APPLICABLE CITY CODE PROVISIONS 

A. Sec. 110-643 PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 
 

(1) Purpose and Intent of the PUD Zoning District: 
 

(a) It is the purpose of this district to provide a method for landowners or developers 
to submit unique proposals which may not be provided for or allowed in the other 
zoning districts otherwise established by this Code. The PUD zoning district allows 
a mix of residential and nonresidential uses and/or unique design features which 
might otherwise not be allowed in one of the other listed districts, but that 
otherwise conform to the City of Indian Rocks Beach Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(b) The PUD provisions are intended to promote flexibility of design and integration of 

uses and structures, while at the same time retaining in the City Commissioners the 
absolute authority to establish limitations and regulations thereon for the benefit of the 
public health, welfare and safety. By encouraging flexibility while retaining control by 
the City Commission, the PUD is designed to accomplish one or more of the following: 

 
1. Permit innovative residential, nonresidential, and mixed-use developments 

provide for an integration of housing types and accommodation of changing 



 

Page 8 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

lifestyles within neighborhoods; and provide for design that encourages internal 
and external convenient and comfortable travel by foot, bicycle, and transit 
through such strategies as various street widths compatible with the type of 
development project proposed, modest setbacks, front porches, connected 
streets, multiple connections to nearby land uses, and mixed uses. 

 
2. Provide flexibility to meet changing needs, technologies, economics and 

consumer preferences. 
 
3. Preserve to the greatest extent possible, and utilize in a harmonious fashion, 

existing and outstanding landscape features and scenic vistas. 
 
4. Lower development and building costs by permitting smaller networks of utilities, 

and the use of more economical development patterns and shared facilities. 
 
5. Achieve overall coordinated building and facility relationships and infill 

development and eliminate the negative impacts of unplanned and piecemeal 
development. 

 
6. Enhance the combination and coordination of architectural styles, building forms 

and building relationships within the development. 
 
7. Promote the use of traditional, quality-of-life design features, such as pedestrian 

scale, parking located to the side or rear of buildings, connected streets, 
terminated vistas, front porches, recessed garages, alleys, aligned building 
facades that face the street, and formal landscaping along streets and sidewalks. 

 
8. Provide an efficient public process for considering complex developments where 

the proposed development is of such size, scale, complexity, and/or unique 
design that it would be inconvenient and inefficient to process such a proposal 
outside the PUD process.  

(c)  All building code, housing code and other land use regulations of this Code are applicable to a 
PUD, unless otherwise approved within the PUD Ordinance.  

STAFF COMMENT: The proposed Planned Unit Development is inconsistent with the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. The proposed building height 
of 85’7” feet is  35’7”  feet higher than the allowed 50 feet on the old restaurant site. 
Also the north side yard setback is proposed at 4 feet and which is 1 foot less than the 
allowed 5 feet.   

 

B. Sec 110-644 Justification and Minimum Requirements for Rezoning to Planned Unit 
Development. 

 
(1) An applicant for a PUD rezoning must present evidence in the PUD Narrative that 

the rezoning to PUD is justified by one or more of the following: 
 



 

Page 9 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

(a) The proposed development is unique. Although it does not fit within an existing 
zoning district, it is consistent with the city comprehensive plan. The proposed 
development is of such size, scale, complexity, and/or unique design that it would 
be inconvenient and inefficient to process such a proposal outside the PUD 
process. 

 
(b) The nature of the proposed use at a specific site requires specialized design 

characteristics to preserve and protect neighborhood character, environmental 
concerns and other concerns unique to the immediate area, consistent with 
comprehensive plan policies. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The site plan proposes access to the site 2nd Street and will add 
1,110 trips per day, per the applicant’s enclosed traffic study.  

 
(2) The applicant for the PUD rezoning must further present evidence in the 

aforementioned PUD Narrative that the rezoning to PUD meets the following 
standards: 

(a) The density and/or intensity, character and type of development proposed in the 
development plan is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, future land use map 
and the concurrency management system, and the development plan meets one 
or more of the objectives set forth in section 110-643 above. 
 

STAFF COMMENT: The project would be located in the Commercial-General-Temp 
Lodging Density 50- Business District Triangle future land use district which would 
allow for 50 units per acre. 
 
(b) An evaluation of the external compatibility of a PUD should be based on the following 

factors: (1) adjacent existing and proposed uses, (2) design of the development to 
avoid undue noise, odor, traffic or other nuisances and other nuisances and dangers 
to abutting property owners; (3) traffic circulation to ensure the transportation system 
and streets are of sufficient width and capacity to serve the demands created by the 
development; and (4) density and/or intensity including type and size of structures 
and/.or units and height shall be considered to address compatibility. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed project would be consistent with adjacent uses, 
would avoid nuisances and dangers to adjacent properties, access would be off of 
2nd Street which is a one way street. The building height of the proposed project 
would be incompatible with adjacent uses. 
 
This proposed development has deviated from the Land Development Regulations 
in Section 110-131 (11) (g) Maximum building height. For buildings constructed on 
pilings, the maximum height of pilings is ten feet. The maximum height of a building 
above pilings is 40 feet. Otherwise, the maximum height of a building is 50 feet. This 
proposal is requesting building heights to be 85’7” ft. 



 

Page 10 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

 
This proposed development has deviated from the Land Development Regulations 
in Section 110-135(e)(1) A ten-foot minimum setback is required on other property 
boundaries abutting a right-of-way. The remaining boundary setbacks shall be five 
feet minimum with a city-reviewed and approved landscaping plan, which shall meet 
the overlay zone requirements regarding in-ground landscaping and irrigation. In 
addition to the additional 35’7” of height, this proposal is also requesting a four-
foot setback on the north side of the building, as opposed to the ordinary five-foot 
setback restriction. 
 
(c) Usable open spaces, and recreation areas provided within a PUD must provide 

appropriate recreational opportunities, protect sensitive environmental areas, 
conserve areas of unique beauty or historical significance, enhance neighborhood 
design, and encourage compatible and cooperative relationships between adjoining 
land uses. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: This proposed development has maintained the wetland areas 
and there is an existing pool on-site.  
 
 (d) Every dwelling unit or other use permitted in the PUD shall have access to a public 

street either directly or by way of a private road, pedestrian way, court or other area 
which is either dedicated to public use or is a common area guaranteeing access. 
Permitted uses are not required to front on a dedicated public road, but at a minimum, 
private roads and other access ways shall be required to be constructed so as to 
ensure that they are safe and maintainable. To that end, all public roads within any 
PUD shall be constructed in accordance with the latest applicable FDOT 
specifications. The City further recommends that private roads be built to the latest 
applicable FDOT specifications Connection to existing or planned adjacent streets is 
required, where applicable and feasible to minimize adverse traffic impacts. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed development has direct access to 2nd Street from 
the private interior drive. 2nd Street is a one-way street.  

 
(e)   Sufficient off-street parking for bicycles, automobiles and other vehicles must be 

provided. Parking areas must be constructed in accordance with the standards 
outlined in the Land Development Regulations in the City’s Code, and any 
deviations must be specifically identified and approved by the city commission to 
ensure that they are safe and maintainable and that they allow for sufficient privacy 
for adjoining uses. The design of a PUD should, whenever feasible, incorporate 
appropriate pedestrian and bicycle access ways so as to provide for a variety of 
mobility opportunities. Connection to all sidewalks, greenways, trails, bikeways, 
and transit stops along the perimeter of the PUD is required. Where existing 
perimeter sidewalks do not exist, sidewalks shall be provided by the development 
unless otherwise approved within the PUD Ordinance. 
 

STAFF COMMENT: This proposed development has deviated from the Land 



 

Page 11 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

Development Regulations in Section 110-372(2) Required number of parking 
spaces; (2)- Multifamily dwellings: Two spaces for one- and two-bedroom units; 
three spaces for three-bedroom units and above. The project consists of 2-bedroom 
units which ordinarily require 2 spaces per unit. Instead, the Property Owner is 
proposing an overall parking space to unit ratio of .85 spaces per unit. 

 
The applicant has not provided any bike racks onsite. 

 
(f) Utilities and essential public services, including but not limited to, sanitary sewer, 

potable water, fire abatement services or appurtenances, solid waste, and other 
services must be available and have capacity to serve the development. 

 
STAFF COMMENT: The proposed development has access to all requisite services.  

 

Section 110-646 - Application requirements for preliminary review by City staff. 

STAFF COMMENT: City staff reviewed the preliminary application including the location map, 
description and conceptual plan and found it to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 
110-646. 

Section 110-647- Application requirements for rezoning to PUD. 

STAFF COMMENT: The City staff reviewed the application documents and site plan drawings, 
survey, landscape plan, traffic study and architectural renderings and found them to be consistent 
with the requirements in Section 110-647 (a) In Section 110-647 (b) 5-we may require a detailed 
landscape plan meeting or exceeding the requirements of this Code for all new or existing uses; 
 

The Local Planning Agency shall review all materials, facts, documents and forward a 
recommendation to the City Commission.                                                       

EXHIBIT “A”: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

A tract of land in Sec�on 12, Township 30 South, Range 14 East, Pinellas County, Florida, including Lots 7 
through 11, Block 14, and Lots 1 through 6 and a por�on of Lots 7 through 9, Block 15 and a por�on of 
vacated Blocks 17 and 18 and streets, according to plat of INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, as recorded in Plat Book 
4, page 12, public record of Pinellas County, Florida, and including a por�on of the vacated right-of-way 
for State Road 699 and being more par�cularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of said Sec�on 12; thence along the south boundary of said Sec�on12, 
N 89°07’59” W., 1442.50 feet, thence N. 02°07’65” W., 276.76 feet to the North right-of-way line of Miami 
Avenue; thence along said North right-of-way line, S.89°10’15” E., 140.00 feet to the East right-of-way line 
of 2nd Street North and the Point of Beginning; thence along said East right-of-way line, N.02°07’55”W., 
442.85 feet to the South right-of-way line of 4th Avenue: thence along the South, East and North right-of-
way lines of 4th Avenue  the following three courses; S.89°14’51” E, 100.13 feet: thence N.02°07’55”W., 
50.06 feet, thence N.89°14’51” W., 100.13 feet to eh Est right-of -way  line of 2nd Street North; thence 
along said East right-of-way line N.02°07’55”W., 246.96 feet; thence S.89°17’29” E., 287.39 feet; thence S. 



 

Page 12 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

81°59’15” E., 50.00 feet to a non-tangent curve concave to the West having a radius of 2884.93 feet (a 
radial line to said point bears S81°59’15” E.); thence along said curve Notherty 215.97 feet through a 
central angle of 04°19’09” to the south right-of-way line  of S.R. S-694, also being the beginning of a non-
tangent curve concave to the South having a radius of 3719.83 feet ( a radial line to said point bears 
N.02°44’03” to a tangent compound curve concave  to eh Southwest having a radius of 616.34 feet; thence 
along said curve Southeasterly 43.83 feet through a central angle of 40°02’59”; thence tangent from said 
curve S. 49°17’04” E, 25.94 feet; thence S. 40°48’01” W., 1085.71 feet; thence N. 87°14’52” W., 72.15 feet 
to a non-tangent curve concave to the Northwest having a radius of 2914.91 feet (a radial line to said point 
bears S. 67°14’58” E.);  thence along said curve Southwesterly 5.61 feet through a central angle of 
00°06’37”; thence non0tanget from said curve,  N89°10’15”W., 158.30 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ASLO BEING DESCRIBED AS all of HAMLIN’S LANDING, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat book 
74, page 24, public records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Parcel Numbers 

12-30-14-35363-001-0000 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I rear parking and road north half of condos 

12-30-14-35363-001-0010 -HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE I, LOT 1 restaurant 

12-30-14-35363-002-0100 HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR A front parking lot 

12-30-14-35363-002-0200- HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE II, TR B- south half of condos 

12-30-14-35854-000-2080  HARBOUR CLUB AT MARKER 33 COMMERCIAL CONDO UNIT 208 

12-30-14-36411-000-6200 HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION CONDO UNIT 620 

12-30-14-35363-003-0000   HAMLIN'S LANDING PHASE III LESS HARBOURSIDE AT MARKER 33 VACATION 
CONDO PER O.R. 19182/1811 & LESS 43 UNIT BLDG DESC IN O.R. 19738/852  - Water park 

   [End of Staff Report.] 
 
 
Member Holmes asked about the architectural design standards from Section 110-822 (d). The 
approval of design standards, prior to execution and agreement. 

Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmon stated those will be reviewed when we get to the 
architectural design standards and compatibility. 

Member Mott stated after all 3 projects are completed the parking ratio would be .85 per unit. 

Member McFall stated the West parking lot under the original PUD had an allowance for the city 
for 18 public parking spaces adjacent to 2nd. They do not appear in the drawings. 

Member Sawchyn asked for clarification on the ordinance as it reads the developer planned on 
additional 112 units, but in staff’s presentation it is 364 existing units. 



 

Page 13 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

Planning and Zoning Consultant Hamon replied 92 of those units have a lock off that the second 
bedroom could be rented out, it will be 204 extra units. It is similar to connecting rooms in a 
hotel. 

Chairman McFall asked for further clarification under the Pinellas County Comprehensive Plan 
that this project would not comply with. 

Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmon stated it does not comply for the same reason that it is 
stated in the City future land use that is being proposed on. The future land use comes from the 
exact language that comes from Forward Pinellas County Wide Plan. They are parallel. 

Member Dauses asked if there are any improvements on the existing hotel with this project. 

Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmon replied not that she is aware of. 

Member Dauses asked if the number of rooms was current, because of the changes from the 
retail being converted into rooms.  

Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmon replied that the number provided is what is at the site 
now, not what it was when originally built with retail. 

Member McFall stated the parking study is based on July 2021, during Covid, these numbers 
are reduced to what we have present day, do we have updated numbers.  

Planning and Zoning Consultant Harmon stated there is not an updated study. 

Robert Williams, Lewis Longman & Walker, PA. 100 2nd Avenue South St Petersburg, 
representing the applicant Jeffrey Keierleber, stated the Holiday Inn Harbourside is a vital 
segment of the business district and a part the success of the city, and the Holiday Inn 
Harbourside would like to continue that. The three issues are parking, the height of the building 
and the setbacks. Mr. Williams provided five letters of support for Ordinance 2023-08. 

Robert Pergulizzi, Gulfcoast Consulting, Clearwater, presented his planning report and traffic 
analysis which is a part of the agenda packet. 

Jeffrey Keierleber, applicant, provided a history on the Holiday Inn Harbourside Phase 3 project. 

Member Dauses asked if this building has the same concept as Harbor Side. 

Mr. Keierleber responded affirmatively; with one change it will have a central check-in spot. 

Member Dauses asked if the project would be a compound or open to the public. 

Mr. Keierleber responded that it would not be a compound and it would be open to the public 
with a 5000 square foot area for a children’s play area. 

Chair McFall asked if there was anyone who wanted to speak against the project. 

Robert Johnson, 1206 Beach Trail, provided a history to Holiday Inn Harbourside building phase 
3.  

Member Sawchyn asked with the increase in parking spaces where they are going to go. 



 

Page 14 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

Robert Pergulizzi stated the PUD plan shows parking going under the building, there will be 
parking spaces on the ground level and a second level deck, by 2nd street. 

Chair McFall asked if the Holiday Inn plans on charging for parking. 

Mr. Keierleber responded affirmatively and stated that the original 18 parking spaces allowed for 
the city will remain. 

Chair McFall closed Public Comment. 

Member Holmes stated the project’s architectural design does not comply with the city’s 
guidelines in Sec. 110-822.  

Member Dauses stated that parking is difficult by the Harborside with the time share program. 
She stated she is disappointed with the architectural design presented. She stated that the 
Holiday Inn Harborside does provide guests with the chance to come and stay for a single night. 

Member Mott stated that there are some contradictions to what is proposed and what staff 
comments say. 

Member McFall stated while the property on the north side does need help his concern is with 
intensity the actual use of the property and how it affects the surrounding area including Gulf 
Boulevard, Second Avenue, Third Avenue, and 4th.  

Member McFall stated that this would nearly double the amount of traffic where it is a 
tremendous blockage now as you cross Walsingham going South. 

Member McFall stated that this not 2002 and we must be consistent with what others are 
allowed in height. This is not Clearwater Beach. 

McFall stated he did not see enough give on the development side to architectural standards, 
mitigating traffic and parking. 

MOTION MADE BY MEMBER SAWCHYN, SECONDED BY MEMBER SYLVESTER to 
recommend to the City Commission DENIAL OF FLU ORDINANCE NO. 2023—07: Requesting 
to change the Future Land Use from Residential/Office/Retail (R/O/R) to Commercial-General-
Temp Lodging Density 50 - Business District Triangle (CG-TLD50-BDT) for an additional 112 units 
with 92 lock off units to the Holiday Inn Harbourside site at 401 2nd St. As described in Exhibit “A.” 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 
AYES: McFall, Sylvester, Dauses, Warman, Sawchyn, Holmes, Mott 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUS. 
 

MOTION MADE BY MEMBER SAWCHYN, SECONDED BY MEMBER SYLVESTER to 
recommend to the City Commission DENIAL of PUD ORDINANCE NO. 2023—08: 
Requesting an amendment to the Holiday Inn Harborside (formerly known as Hamlin’s Landing) 
Planned Unit Development for an additional 112 units with 92 lock off units for the Holiday Inn 
Harbourside site at 401 2nd Street, Indian Rocks Beach, FL.  



 

Page 15 of 15 
MINUTES: Planning and Zoning Board 
Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 
AYES: McFall, Sylvester, Dauses, Warman, Sawchyn, Holmes, Mott 
NAYS: None 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUS. 
 
9.  OTHER BUSINESS. None 

 

10. ADJOURNMENT.  
 

MOTION MADE BY MEMBER SAWCHYN, SECONDED BY MEMBER HOLMES TO 
ADJOURN THE MEETING AT 7:58 P.M. UNANIMOUS APPROVAL BY ACCLAMATION. 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Date Approved Rick McFall, Acting Chairperson 

 

 

 

/lak 

 

 
 



 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 7A 

 
OTHER LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 

 
Ordinance No. 2023-06 

Second Reading 
 

An Ordinance of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, providing for 
an amendment to Section 74-63 of the Code of Ordinances pertaining 
to the operation of vessels within the City’s coastal waters in the Gulf 
of Mexico; providing for the incorporation of recitals; providing for 
approval of an amendment to the City’s Code to establish a public 
bathing beach area limited to manually propelled vessels only to 
conform to Florida’s Statutes and Administrative Code; providing for 
severability; providing for the repeal of all ordinances in conflict 
herewith; and providing for an effective date.  





Page 1 of 4 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-06 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF INDIAN ROCKS BEACH, FLORIDA, 
PROVIDING FOR AN AMENDMENT TO SECTION 74-63 – “PUBLIC 
BATHING BEACH” OF THE CITY’S CODE OF ORDINANCES 
PERTAINING TO THE OPERATION OF VESSELS WITHIN THE CITY’S 
COASTAL WATERS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO; PROVIDING FOR THE 
INCORPORATION OF RECITALS; PROVIDING FOR AN AMENDMENT 
TO THE CITY’S CODE TO REMOVE THE RESTRICTION ON 
ANCHORING TO CONFORM WITH ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF 
ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Section 166.021, Florida Statutes acknowledges the City’s governmental, 

corporate, and proprietary powers enabling it to conduct municipal government, perform 
municipal functions, and render municipal services, and that the City may exercise those powers 
for municipal purposes except when expressly prohibited by law; and  
 

WHEREAS, in order to bring its local regulations into alignment with state statutes and 
regulations, while continuing to balance the interests of vessel operators and the beachgoing public 
the City amended its code in 2022 by adopting Ordinance 2022-07; and 

 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of Ordinance 2022-07, Florida’s Fish and 

Wildlife Conservation Commission reviewed and provided additional legal insights concerning 
the Ordinance’s consistency with its administrative and legal guidelines relating to anchoring 
within a public bathing beach; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that this Ordinance is in the best interests of the 
City’s residents and property owners and furthers the public interest in protecting life, safety and 
property values. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Commission of the City of 
Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, that: 
 

SECTION 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
SECTION 2. That Section 74-63 (“Public Bathing Beach Area”) of the Indian Rocks 

Beach City Code, is amended to read as follows: 
 
Section 74-63. Public Bathing Beach Area. 
 

(a) Purpose. This section is enacted for the purpose of protecting public bathers from 
dangers caused by increased and accelerated vessel operations along the beaches and 
shorelines of the City of Indian Rocks Beach. The purpose of this Section is to protect 



Page 2 of 4 
 

public bathers that bathe, wade, lounge, congregate, and engage in recreational 
activities in and on the shallow waters of the city. The city desires to ensure that such 
activities are conducted in a manner that is safe for any residents and visitors that 
engage in such activities, with protection from potential boating accidents, vessel 
congestion, and other navigational hazards. The city intends to designate the entire area 
from its northern corporate boundary to its southern corporate boundary and extending 
three hundred feet (300’) from the city’s shoreline and into the Gulf of Mexico, as a 
public bathing beach. 
 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this Section, the following terms, phrases, words, and 
derivations shall have the meaning given herein. 

 
1) Boating restricted area. An area of the city’s waters within which the operation 

of vessels is subject to specified restrictions or from which vessels, or certain 
classes of vessels, are excluded. 
 

2) Buoy. Any device designed to float which is anchored in the water and used to 
convey a message, carry a sign, or support a mooring pennant. 
 

3) Manually Propelled Vessels Only. All vessels other than those propelled by 
oars, paddles, or poles are prohibited from entering the marked area. Vessels 
equipped with sails or a mechanical means of propulsion may enter the marked 
area only if the sails or mechanical means of propulsion is not in use and, if 
possible to do so, the mechanical means of propulsion is tilted or raised out of 
the water. 

 
4) Regulatory Marker. A device used to alert mariners to various regulatory 

matters such as permissible horsepower, speed, wake, or entry restrictions.  
 

5) Vessel-Exclusion Zone. An area from which all vessels or certain classes of 
vessels are excluded. 

 
(c) Public Bathing Beach Permitting Manually Propelled Vessel Only. 

  
1) Public Bathing Beach Established. There is created a boating restricted area 

designated as a public bathing beach, wherein only manually propelled vessels 
are permitted. This area shall extend three hundred feet (300’) from the city’s 
shoreline into the Gulf of Mexico, and run parallel along the entirety of the 
city’s shoreline abutting the Gulf of Mexico. 
 

2) Public Bathing Beach Markers. This boating restricted area shall be designated 
by regulatory markers affixed to buoys, which shall be designed, installed, 
replaced, and maintained in conformity with any applicable state and federal 
regulatory requirements. The City may install, replace, and maintain the 
requisite regulatory markers and buoys, or cause such activity to occur. 

 



Page 3 of 4 
 

(d) Violations. 
 

1) Any operator or person in command of any motorized, wind-powered, or other 
artificially propelled vessel who intentionally or negligently navigates into the 
designated public bathing beach shall be deemed to have violated the 
restrictions set forth in this Section, which shall constitute a noncriminal 
infraction as set forth in F.S. § 327.73. Such restriction shall not apply to any 
watercraft entering the vessel-exclusion zone as a result of an emergency or to 
any official emergency vessels. 
 

2) The mooring of any vessel, watercraft, or other foreign object to markers or 
buoys placed by the city or other authorized governmental body shall be 
prohibited and punishable by a fine pursuant to Section 1-15 of the city’s code 
of ordinances.  

 
3) It shall be unlawful for any person to anchor a watercraft within the public 

bathing beach, which area shall be marked by buoys and permitted regulatory 
markers. 

 
(e) Enforcement. Enforcement of the restrictions relating to the operation of any motorized, 

wind-powered or other artificially propelled vessel shall be by law enforcement officers 
from the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission or County Sheriff 
Department, using the Uniform Boating Citation as provided for by applicable Florida 
law. Any other violations of this Section may be enforced by a city code enforcement 
inspector. 

 
SECTION 3. If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions 
and portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full effect. 
 

SECTION 4. All other ordinances of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida, or portions 
thereof, which conflict, with this or any part of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 
SECTION 5. This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption by the City 

Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 
 
  



Page 4 of 4 
 

ADOPTED ON FIRST READING on the ___ day of _______________, 2023, by the 
City Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 
  
 PUBLISHED the ____ day of ___________________ 2023 in the Tampa Bay Times 
newspaper. 
 

ADOPTED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING on the        day of _______________, 
2023, by the City Commission of the City of Indian Rocks Beach, Florida. 
 
ATTEST: 

______________________________   ______________________________ 
Lorin A. Kornijtschuk, City Clerk        Joanne “Cookie” Kennedy 
        Mayor-Commissioner 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
______________________________ 
Randol D. Mora, City Attorney 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 8A 
 

WORK SESSION ITEMS 
DISCUSSION  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 9 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

None. 
  



 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 10 
 

ADJOURNMENT. 
 


	CCM-11-14-2023_AgendaPacket-Final-rv-2-11-13-2023.pdf
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda Packet_209
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124.pdf
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023.doc



	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_v2
	CCM-11-14-2023_AgendaPacket-Final-rv-2-11-13-2023
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda Packet_209
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124.pdf
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023.doc
	CM November 2023 Monthly Report
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023.doc
	10-10-2023 CCM Minutes v2
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023.doc
	CCM- BOA 2023-08-320 12th Avenue Binder1
	CC  2023-08  320 12th Ave  Agenda Memo - Copy
	BOA 2023-08  320 12th Ave  PP
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	Completed Variance Application 09182023
	Completed Variance Application.pdf
	7368.Variance Application
	a. Special exceptions $400.00
	APPLICATION FOR VARIANCE
	VARIANCE REQUEST CONTINUED…
	HARDSHIP


	7368.Variance Application Narrative
	Agent of Record
	Variance certification
	7368.Boundary Survey
	Wertheim as-built-design 093 R1-1
	Wertheim as-built-design 093 R1
	Wertheim site plan 093


	Letter of No Objection



	BOA-Minutes-10-17-2023
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023-1 PAGE

	PZ-Holiday Inn_Binder315
	PZ-Holiday Inn_Binder311
	Ord 2023-07  FLU staff report (RDM  10-16-23 rev hh 11-1-23)
	Ord 2023-07 FLUM Amendment (RDM Review 10-16-2023)
	2023-07-Holiday Inn - PUD mod PP
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21

	2023-07-Exhibit B -HIH Future Land Use Application3
	2023-07-Exhibit A - legal (RDM Rev)
	PZ-Holiday Inn_Binder1
	Exhibit B-Harbourside Vacation Condos PUD Planning Report 10-11-23

	2023- 08  Holiday Inn PUD Staff report  rev hh11-2-23  (2)
	INDIAN ROCKS CITY COMMISSION STAFF REPORT
	MEETING OF:  November 14, 2023   AGENDA Item: 6C

	2023- 08  Holiday Inn PUD Ordinance rev hh11-2-23  (1)
	2023-08-Exhibit B  PUD Application 1   9.23.22
	PUD Application TStudy  9.23.22

	Exhibit C PUD_ (003)


	CCM-11-14-2023_AgendaPacket-Final-rv-2-11-13-2023
	PZ-Holiday Inn_Binder315
	PZ Minutes 10-19-2023-final,doc
	2. ROLL CALL:
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF: July 27, 2023.
	MOTION MADE BY MEMBER SYLVESTER AND SECONDED BY MEMBER HOLMES, TO APPROVE THE MAY 25, 2023, PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD MINUTES AS SUBMITTED.


	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda Packet_209
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124
	CCM-11-14-2023-Agenda Memo 7A
	2023-06-02 IRB Public Bathing Beach Ordinance

	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124
	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124
	CCM Divider Sheets 11-14-2023.doc

	CCM-11-14-2023_Agenda_Packet_1124





